



# **Controlling Emissions in Germany's Future Hydrogen Economy**

**Entry-Points for Policy Action** 

Authors

Kathleen A. Mar, Rainer Quitzow, Finn Haberkost, Mona C. Horn, Hannah Lentschig, Charlotte Unger, Andreas Goldthau **Acknowledgements** 

This study was partially funded by the Environmental Defense Fund (EDF) and was developed in cooperation between the Research Institute for Sustainability (RIFS) and EDF.

The research team would like to acknowledge the valuable inputs and feedback provided by the EDF team. Furthermore, the team would like to thank the following experts for their support and insights during the preparation of the study: Dr. Sofia Esquivel Elizondo, Envionmental Defense Fund; Nils Bruch, Technische Universität Darmstadt; Charlotte Große, DBI-Gruppe; Marco Henel, DBI-Gruppe; Roman Mendelevitch, Öko-Institut; Jenny Sammüller, DBI-Gruppe; Rüdiger Schwarze, TU Bergakademie Freiberg; Martin Wietschel, Fraunhofer Institute for Systems and Innovation Research (ISI).

## **Executive Summary**

Hydrogen has taken on an outsized role in our collective imagination as an energy carrier that will help the world reach a net-zero future, and this is increasingly reflected in concrete policies, plans, and actions. This enthusiasm is based on the hope that hydrogen can become a carbon neutral alternative to fossil fuels, given that hydrogen combustion does not produce carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>). In the German context, hydrogen is an integral part of its national climate strategy to reach net zero in 2045. It is often seen as the only viable solution for decarbonizing industrial sectors like steel and chemical production.

To date, the political debate in Germany has concentrated on how to enable a rapid rampup of renewable – or 'green' – hydrogen production and to build up the necessary infrastructure, both in Germany and abroad, to secure a sufficient hydrogen supply. Little attention has been paid to the fact that hydrogen, as an indirect greenhouse gas (GHG), contributes to climate change when released into the atmosphere. While the underlying science is well understood, there have been few studies that have systematically assessed the potential climate impact of hydrogen emissions within net-zero scenarios. With this study, we take a first step towards closing this gap by evaluating the potential warming impact of hydrogen emissions in a future hydrogen economy for Germany, one of the major frontrunners in the sector. Building on our estimates of these impacts, we then identify policy levers at the national, European, and international level to minimize these impacts. Our results show that hydrogen emissions from an all-green hydrogen value chain in 2045 would amount to 10.8 Mt CO<sub>2</sub>e (GWP100). To put this into perspective, this is equivalent to approximately 17% of Germany's projected residual GHG emissions in 2045 in its net zero scenarios.

#### Reviewing the role of hydrogen as an indirect greenhouse gas

The study begins with a brief review of the underlying climate science, outlining the role of hydrogen as an indirect GHG. That is, hydrogen does not act itself as a GHG, but its chemical reactions in the atmosphere lead to an increase in the abundance of other GHGs, namely methane, tropospheric ozone, and stratospheric water vapor. Taking these reactions into account, a recent multi-model study calculated that the global warming potential of hydrogen over 100 years (GWP100) – the most common metric for evaluating the climate impact of molecules in the atmosphere – is  $11.6 \pm 2.8$ . This means that on a per-kg basis, hydrogen is over 11 times more effective in warming than CO<sub>2</sub> on a 100-year timescale (Sand et al., 2023). On a 20-year timescale, hydrogen is even more potent, with a GWP20 value of GWP20 of  $37.3 \pm 15.1$ . We use these values to calculate the CO<sub>2</sub>-equivalence (CO<sub>2</sub>e) of hydrogen emissions in our study.

#### Estimating hydrogen emissions along the hydrogen value chain

We next describe the hydrogen emissions that can be expected to occur along the hydrogen value chain during production, conversion, transport, and storage. We evaluate the expected magnitude of these emissions based on current knowledge in the field, as well as assumptions regarding technology and policy development. We then choose a range of emission rates for a low ('min') and high ('max') case to be used in our calculations. In addition, we consider  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  emissions from fossil-based hydrogen with carbon capture and storage (CCS) – or 'blue hydrogen' – and quantify a range of expected emission rates. These ranges are applied to calculate additional scenarios where blue hydrogen is also part of Germany's hydrogen supply.

The emission rates applied in this study rely on current estimates, which in almost all cases lack confirmation via in-situ measurements. As more high-precision sensors for  $H_2$  become available, empirical measurements should be used to verify real-world emission rates and ensure that control measures are effective. Nonetheless, we can use the range of emission rates considered in our study to identify important entry points for controlling emissions along the hydrogen value chain.

#### Green and blue hydrogen in Germany's net-zero plans

In Section 3 we briefly present Germany's plans for a hydrogen economy, with Germany's National Hydrogen Strategy and the government's net-zero scenarios ('Langfristszenarien') as the centrepieces. These are part of Germany's broader strategy to achieve its climate target of net-zero GHG emissions by 2045. In its updated National Hydrogen Strategy, the federal government expects that Germany will need between 95 and 130 TWh of hydrogen and its derivatives (e.g., ammonia and methanol) by 2030. This includes the existing hydrogen demand of 55 TWh (currently covered by 'grey', natural gas-based hydrogen) as well as a newly-emerging demand of 40 - 75 TW. This new demand for hydrogen is expected to come in large part from industry, most notably from the steel and chemical sectors. Maritime shipping, aviation, and heavy-duty transport are also expected to play a role. Germany aims to produce 30 - 50% (i.e., 30 - 56 TWh) of its hydrogen supply domestically by 2030, focusing on green hydrogen produced from renewable energy sources. To meet the remainder of Germany's projected hydrogen demand, Germany will need to depend on hydrogen imports.

Although direct financial support for hydrogen production is limited to green hydrogen, the updated National Hydrogen Strategy also promotes blue hydrogen, which is planned to be imported in the short- to mid-term. The German government has already entered into cooperation agreements with Norway and the United Arab Emirates (UAE) to facilitate the import of blue hydrogen and its derivatives from these countries to Germany.

#### Scenarios for estimating the climate impact of Germany's hydrogen plans

With these policy documents as a basis, we develop a range of illustrative scenarios for a German hydrogen economy in 2045. Each scenario represents a potential hydrogen future with assumptions about the amount and type of hydrogen produced, the location of its production and associated transport modes and distances. In all cases, we assume domestic hydrogen production will be green. For imports, we also consider scenarios with shares of imported blue hydrogen. Based on these scenarios, we quantify the expected hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>), methane (CH<sub>4</sub>), and carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) emissions of our scenarios and their global warming potential. In order to highlight a plausible range of emissions intensities (and resulting total emissions), for each scenario we perform a calculation using low ('min') and high ('max') emission rates, as defined in Section 2. For scenarios that include blue hydrogen we perform an additional calculation ('EU-max'), where we assume that imported blue hydrogen will meet (but not exceed) the EU standard for low-carbon hydrogen (with an emissions intensity of 3.38 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e per kg of hydrogen).

#### Significant climate impacts from unmitigated hydrogen emissions

Our results show that hydrogen emissions from an all-green hydrogen value chain in 2045 have the potential to be significant. Under assumptions of high emission rates ('max') in a high hydrogen demand scenario, we find that total hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>) emissions would amount to 10.8 Mt CO<sub>2</sub>e (GWP100). To put this into perspective, this is equivalent to approximately 17% of Germany's projected residual GHG emissions in 2045 in its net zero scenarios. Importantly, 64% of the total hydrogen emissions would be 'imported' from a German standpoint, since only a part of the required hydrogen supply would be produced domestically. This means they would not count against Germany's domestic net-zero target. Nonetheless, they represent a significant impact on global climate and point towards the need for action to minimize hydrogen emissions.

## Hydrogen emissions from production: large potential impact, large potential for emission reduction

Furthermore, our results show that, under assumption of high ('max') emission rates, production-related losses are the main contributor to hydrogen emissions along the green hydrogen value chain, accounting for over 75% of the total in an all-green scenario. Importantly, the high emission rates during production assume the intentional release of gases during electrolysis (based on current practices of venting from electrodes and during purification). These emission rates can be reduced significantly by capturing the vented hydrogen and recombining it with oxygen to form water. In other words, the main determinant of the emissions footprint of green hydrogen production is an operational practice that could be adapted. This suggests that minimizing the hydrogen emissions during electrolysis would be both technically feasible and effective. Indeed, if hydrogen emissions are minimized along the entire value chain, they can be reduced from 17% to less than 2% of projected residual emissions in 2045, as illustrated by our calculations using low emissions rates ('min'). Assuming low emission rates, the relative contribution of emissions from production, conversion, transport and storage become more similar; furthermore we note that different choices regarding the modes of hydrogen transport and storage have the potential to significantly impact emission rates.

More broadly, a future energy system that assumes less total demand for hydrogen (relying more on direct electrification), hydrogen emissions are significantly decreased, equivalent to about half of the emissions calculated for the high demand scenario. This underlines the

benefits of electrification with renewable energy in meeting Germany's energy needs in 2045.

## Emissions from blue hydrogen imports: equivalent of 15% of Germany's current GHG emissions in an "all blue" import scenario

Compared to an all-green scenario, the GHG footprint of a German hydrogen economy would look quite different if it included blue hydrogen imports, which yield significant additional emissions of methane and CO<sub>2</sub>. While blue hydrogen production generates fewer hydrogen emissions compared to electrolysis, methane as well as CO<sub>2</sub> emissions increase the total emissions significantly. In a scenario where blue hydrogen accounts for 1/3 of total imports, total emissions are 40 Mt CO<sub>2</sub>e (GWP100), assuming high emission rates ('max') across the value chain. This is equivalent to 64% of the residual GHG emissions projected in Germany's net-zero scenarios. For comparison: assuming that all hydrogen imports are blue results in nearly 100 Mt CO<sub>2</sub>e (GWP100) in emissions. Not only would this be 1.5 times the projected residual emissions in Germany's net-zero scenarios for 2045; it is also equivalent to nearly 15% of Germany's current GHG emissions. This highlights the importance of ensuring low methane leakage rates and high CCS efficiency for blue hydrogen production.

If we alternately assume that imported blue hydrogen would meet the EU definition for lowcarbon hydrogen (calculating the CH<sub>4</sub>+CO<sub>2</sub> emissions based on the threshold emissions intensity of 3.38 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e per kg of hydrogen), we see a significant reduction in the total GHG emissions for blue hydrogen compared to the calculations using our maximum assumed emission rates ('max). That is, assuming high emission intensities for blue hydrogen ('max') - a reasonable representation of current practices - blue hydrogen would not qualify as 'low-carbon'. Even assuming low emission rates ('min') for blue hydrogen - which represent substantial emission reductions compared to the current standard for low-carbon hydrogen - a significant amount of GHG emissions would remain 'embedded' in blue hydrogen imports. In sum, the positive climate impact of green hydrogen clearly outweighs that of blue hydrogen, even assuming that emissions of methane and CO<sub>2</sub> from blue hydrogen are minimized.

#### Controlling emissions in a hydrogen economy: a review of the regulatory landscape

As a basis for developing policy recommendations based on our calculations, Section 4 provides an overview of relevant regulations of GHG emissions along the hydrogen value chain, both at the national (German) and European level. A distinction is made between regulations that a) set targets, thresholds and methodologies, b) price  $CO_2$  and c) prescriptively control and limit emissions. Of particular importance is the recently adopted Hydrogen and Decarbonized Gas Market Package (HDGMP), which is the first EU regulation to recognize the climate impact of hydrogen emissions. Accordingly, the package stipulates that the methodology for the emission savings of low-carbon hydrogen, which is to be adopted by August 2025, should address the climate impact of hydrogen emissions. None-theless, the draft methodology published by the European Commission on September 27th, 2024 for consultation, does <u>not</u> consider hydrogen emissions, citing the need for additional scientific evidence to determine hydrogen's precise global warming potential.

Apart from the standard for low-carbon hydrogen, the HDGMP contains tentative steps for the limitation of hydrogen emissions during transport and storage. Transport and storage operators will be required to measure and report hydrogen emissions more accurately and take initial measures to minimize them. Moreover, the European Commission is tasked with the compilation of a report to assess the risk of climate-damaging hydrogen emissions and to submit legislation to control hydrogen emissions 'if appropriate'.

Hydrogen emissions from the production of hydrogen are regulated by the Industrial Emissions Directive at the EU-level as well as the German National Immission Control Act (BIm-SchG), which offers more detailed specifications in this regard. However, neither explicitly considers the climate impact of hydrogen emissions. Consequently, existing provisions of the BImSchG only address safety-related requirements. Finally, the EU Methane Regulation contains provisions for minimizing upstream methane emissions, which affects the production of blue hydrogen with natural gas and CCS within the EU. However, the regulation only applies to the import of gas, oil and coal; hence, the upstream emissions of imported blue hydrogen are not covered by the EU Methane Regulation.

#### Entry-points for policy action at the national, European and international level

Based on the calculations presented in Section 3 and the regulatory landscape and its shortcomings outlined in Section 4, we recommend the following measures at the 1) national, 2) European, and 3) international level:

## Make every effort to meet Germany's hydrogen demand with green hydrogen in 2045 and prioritize direct electrification

As shown in our scenarios, blue hydrogen is associated with significantly higher GHG emissions than green hydrogen – even if it meets the EU low-carbon threshold. This necessitates prioritizing green hydrogen in domestic production and imports. To do so, limiting overall hydrogen demand by prioritizing direct electrification wherever possible represents an important no-regret measure.

### Swiftly transpose the EU Hydrogen and Decarbonized Gas Market Package (HDGMP) into German law and define maximum H<sub>2</sub> emissions rates for electrolysers

An important first step for addressing hydrogen emissions will be the swift transposition of the HDGMP into national law and its subsequent implementation. In addition, German policymakers should define maximum emission rates for electrolysers and prescribe the implementation of best available techniques (BAT) for emission reduction in the Federal Immission Control Act (BImSchG). This is of particular importance since hydrogen production is responsible for the bulk of emissions from the hydrogen value chain (over 75% of total emissions in our only-green, high demand scenario) and emissions can be reduced costeffectively. An important point of reference is the guidance for hydrogen production by electrolysis of water which was recently published by the UK government and includes specific provisions for the minimization of hydrogen emissions.

Furthermore, the government should work with network and storage operators to support the implementation of available measures to reduce downstream hydrogen emissions (e.g., tightening of valves and seals, use of laminated gaskets and welded joints, etc.). It should also support further research for the development of market-ready hydrogen leak detection technologies to detect climate-relevant emissions that are not controlled for by safety regulations.

## Ensure consideration of $H_2$ and methane emissions in methodology for calculating GHG savings of low-carbon hydrogen

At the European level, Germany should advocate for the inclusion of hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>) emissions in the draft methodology for low-carbon emission savings. Subsequently, it should promote a corresponding update of the methodology for Renewable Fuels of Non-Biological Origin (RFNBOs) (DR 2023/1185) and the EU taxonomy for sustainable investments. Initially, emission rates can be included on the basis of standard values, but as technology and data improve, these should be replaced by measured and verified emission rates.

## Increase GHG savings rate for renewable and low-carbon hydrogen over time and add blue hydrogen to list of imported goods covered by the EU Methane Regulation

Furthermore, the current emissions saving threshold of 70% (3.38 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e per kg of hydrogen) for renewable and low-carbon hydrogen (applicable to green and blue hydrogen, respectively) should be increased over time to meet German and the European climate targets. Germany can act as a frontrunner by implementing national legislation that anticipates such a ratcheting-up mechanism at the EU level. Moreover, the EU Methane Regulation (2024/1787) applies only to the import of gas, oil and coal but not that of hydrogen or its derivatives. Adding hydrogen and its derivatives (e.g., ammonia, methanol) to the list of regulated goods would help minimize methane emissions for all fossil-based hydrogen entering the EU, whether in compliance with the standard for low-carbon hydrogen or not. The planned review of the Methane Regulation in 2028 offers a suitable opportunity for implementing this amendment.

#### Promote increasingly stringent regulation of H<sub>2</sub> emissions at EU level

Complementing more stringent national regulation to control hydrogen emissions, Germany should promote the regulation of hydrogen emissions from production in the EU's Industrial Emissions Directive by requiring the implementation of best-available technologies and setting maximum hydrogen emission rates. To underpin effective implementation, policymakers should mandate comprehensive monitoring of hydrogen emissions by the European Environmental Agency and the German Environmental Protection Agency.

## To promote formal recognition of hydrogen's impact as an indirect GHG, review and update the value of its GWP100 to reflect the latest science in the next IPCC report

Internationally, Germany should promote greater awareness of hydrogen as an indirect GHG and support including an updated Global Warming Potential (GWP) for hydrogen in the IPCC's upcoming seventh assessment report. This will create a clear reference point that researchers and policy-makers can draw on to quantify the climate impact of hydrogen in future research and regulatory standards, such as the methodology for calculating GHG savings for low-carbon hydrogen.

## Incorporate best-in-class provisions regarding methane emissions, $CO_2$ capture rates and overall transparency when importing blue hydrogen

Additionally, Germany should incorporate best-in-class provisions on methane leakage, CCS efficiency and require high levels of transparency when engaging with partners for the import of blue hydrogen. In the absence of such provisions, Germany risks largely displacing rather than significantly reducing total GHG emissions. In support of this, international certification schemes, which will be crucial to monitor and verify emission rates when importing blue hydrogen, should consider hydrogen's climate-warming impact as an indirect GHG.

## Contents

1	Intro	duction	11				
2	War	ning Impacts of a Future Hydrogen Economy	12				
	2.1	Warming impact of hydrogen emissions	12				
2	2.2	Emissions of hydrogen along the value chain					
		2.2.1 Hydrogen emissions during production					
		Hydrogen emissions during conversion	15				
		2.2.2 Hydrogen emissions during transport	16				
		2.2.3 Hydrogen emissions from storage	16				
	2.3	Additional GHG emissions from the production of blue hydrogen	17				
		2.3.1 Methane	17				
		2.3.2 Carbon dioxide	17				
	2.4 hydr	Emissions for blue hydrogen based on the EU definition of 'low-carbon' ogen	18				
3	Gerr	nany's Future Hydrogen Economy: What is its potential GHG footprint	? 19				
	3.1	Germany's National Hydrogen Strategy: a short overview	19				
		3.1.1 Expected hydrogen demand by 2030	19				
		3.1.2 Hydrogen supply	20				
		3.1.3 Transport, distribution and storage	20				
	3.2	Long-term scenarios for a climate-neutral energy system in 2045	21				
	3.3	Estimating GHG emissions in Germany's future hydrogen economy	22				
		3.3.1 Technical assumptions, parameters and scenarios	22				
		3.3.2 Results and discussion	24				
		ting Regulatory Landscape for Hydrogen Emissions and other Hydrog HG Emissions	jen- 30				
	4.1	Targets, definitions and thresholds	30				
	4.2	Carbon pricing: the EU ETS and CBAM	32				
	4.3	Emissions control regulations	32				
		4.3.1 Regulating transport and storage of hydrogen: the Hydrogen an Decarbonized Gas Market Package					
		4.3.2 Regulating hydrogen production: the Federal Immission Control A the Industrial Emissions Directive					
		4.3.3 Regulating Methane Emissions: the EU's Methane Regulation	34				

Rec	ommendations for Policymakers in Europe and Germany	3
5.1	National Level: Act at home	3
	5.1.1 Make every effort to meet Germany's hydrogen demand with green hydrogen by 2045 and prioritize direct electrification	3
	5.1.2 Swiftly transpose Directive 2024/1788 of the HDGMP into national la 35	w
	5.1.3 Set maximum emission rates for hydrogen from electrolysers in the Federal Immission Control Act	3
	5.1.4 Support the systematic monitoring of hydrogen emissions and the further development of hydrogen leak detection technology	3
	5.1.5 Further advance research to quantify ammonia emissions and their impact on climate	3
5.2	European Level: Lead in Europe	3
	5.2.1 Include hydrogen emissions in the methodology for low-carbon emission savings and update DR 2023/1185 and the EU taxonomy	3
	5.2.2 Increase the GHG emissions savings threshold for low-carbon as we as renewable hydrogen over time	ell 3 <sup>.</sup>
	5.2.3 Regulate the upstream methane emissions of imported blue hydroge in the methane regulation	en 31
	5.2.4 Regulate hydrogen emissions during production in the Industrial Emissions Directive	37
	5.2.5 Ratchet-up the obligations of hydrogen infrastructure operators in th HDGMP by defining maximum emission rates	e 31
5.3	Global Level: Engage Internationally	3
	5.3.1 Increase international awareness of hydrogen as an indirect GHG and promote formal recognition by updating its GWP100 in the next IPCC report	
	5.3.2 Incorporate best-in-class provisions on transparency and CCS efficiencies when engaging with partners for the import of blue hydrogen	3
	5.3.3 Consider indirect impacts of hydrogen emissions on GHG emissions relevant standards and certification schemes	in 3
Арр	endix	39
		4
iterature		

Controlling Emissions in Germany's Future Hydrogen Economy: Entry-Points for Policy Action

9

## Figures

Figure 1. Schematic diagram showing production of Green and Blue Hydrogen and associated emissions of hydrogen ( $H_2$ ), methane ( $CH_4$ ), and carbon dioxide ( $CO_2$ ).	14
Figure 2. Emission rates of hydrogen (H <sub>2</sub> ) along the value chain.	14
Figure 3. Schematic diagram showing the steps along the hydrogen value chain and the associated emissions of $H_2$ , $CH_4$ , and $CO_2$ , as considered in this study.	heir 15
Figure 4. Emission rates of methane (CH <sub>4</sub> ) and carbon dioxide (CO <sub>2</sub> ) from blue hydrog production used in our scenarios.	gen 18
Figure 5. Key targets of the German National Hydrogen Strategy, Update 2023.	19
Figure 6. Draft map and key parameters of the german hydrogen infrastructure plan. Solid line: repurposed pipeline. Dotted line: new pipeline.	21
Figure 7. Projections for german hydrogen supply/demand in 2045.	22
Figure 8. Illustrative scenarios for hydrogen economy in germany in 2045 used in our calculations.	24
Figure 9. Hydrogen emissions resulting from scenarios using all green hydrogen (G1 & G2).	& 27
Figure 10. Comparison of hydrogen emissions for different transport modes.	28
Figure 11. Comparison of emissions in high-demand scenarios under three different assumptions regarding emission rates.	29
Figure 12. Overview of existing EU regulations along the hydrogen value chain.	31

## Tables

Table 1. OVERVIEW OF EMISSIONS ALONG THE HYDROGEN VALUE CHAIN FOR SELECTED SCENARIOS.	25
Table 2. OVERVIEW OF THE SHARE OF DOMESTIC (VS IMPORTED) EMISSIONS ALONG THE HYDROGEN VALUE CHAIN FOR SELECTED SCENARIOS.	26
Table A1. SUMMARY OF CALCULATIONS.	39
Table A2. TECHNICAL PARAMETERS AND ASSUMPTIONS FOR SCENARIOS.	40
Table A3. SUMMARY OF SCENARIOS AND PARAMETERS FOR CALCULATIONS.	40

## 1 Introduction

Hydrogen is an integral part of Germany's climate strategy to reach net zero. We have seen a surge in attention for hydrogen during the last five years, triggered by the hope that it can become a carbon neutral alternative to fossil fuels. Many industrial sectors have started to bet on the widespread of hydrogen and that hydrogen will play an important role in our future low-carbon economy.

Hydrogen is particularly relevant for heavy industries such as iron and steel, for chemical plants and for ammonia production. Hydrogen-based fuels are also an alternative in cases where renewable energies cannot simply replace fossil fuels from an economic or technical perspective. While the political debate has concentrated on how to make (green) hydrogen available as fast as possible and to build up the necessary infrastructure in Germany and abroad, there is an important aspect notably missing from the discussion: hydrogen has the potential to lead to significant climate warming impacts.

Hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>) emissions are released into the atmosphere at all stages of the hydrogen value chain: production, conversion, transport, storage, and end-use. Although hydrogen itself is not a greenhouse gas (GHG), its chemical reactions in the atmosphere lead to increasing concentrations of the GHGs methane (CH<sub>4</sub>), tropospheric ozone and stratospheric water vapor. These H<sub>2</sub> emissions occur for all types of hydrogen and are often not accounted for – e.g., in Life Cycle Assessments or climate benefit calculations – despite their climate warming impact. Moreover, it is often taken for granted that 'green' hydrogen, produced by electrolysis using renewable energy, is climate-neutral and that 'blue' hydrogen is 'low-carbon' if its production, based on reforming natural gas, is combined with the removal of the direct  $CO_2$  emissions using carbon capture and storage (CCS). In this study we demonstrate that without attention to developing policies and practices that minimize hydrogen and as well as methane and  $CO_2$  emissions along the hydrogen value chain, we run the risk of counteracting the promised benefits of a hydrogen economy.

The goal of this study is to evaluate the climate impacts of plausible future hydrogen production and deployment pathways (a future 'hydrogen economy') for Germany and to identify policy levers on national, European, and international levels that could minimize these impacts. In Section 2 we provide an overview of the potential climate impact of a future hydrogen economy, explaining hydrogen's role as an indirect GHG and providing an overview of where hydrogen emissions can occur along the hydrogen value chain, using a range of expected emission rates for these different steps. We further consider CO2 and CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from blue hydrogen and discuss the potential climate impacts of emissions of hydrogen derivatives (particularly ammonia). In Section 3 we focus on Germany's plans for a hydrogen economy. With Germany's National Hydrogen Strategy as a starting point, we develop several illustrative scenarios for domestic and imported green and blue hydrogen, and, based on the emission rates in Section 2, quantify the expected indirect and direct GHG emissions and their global warming potential. Section 4 considers entry points for policy to reduce or avoid these emissions, providing an overview of the current German and EU regulatory landscape relevant for the hydrogen sector. Finally, Section 5 provides recommendations for how to account for and control these emissions along the hydrogen value chain in order to realize the climate benefits of a future hydrogen economy.

## 2 Warming Impacts of a Future Hydrogen Economy

Hydrogen has taken an outsized role in current scenarios of how the world will reach a netzero future. In this chapter we provide an overview of the risks posed by hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>) emissions due to their role as an indirect GHG. We use estimates from the literature to assess the amount of hydrogen emissions that can be expected at different points along the value chain; these emission rates are then applied in our analysis in Section 3. We also consider the additional impact of CH<sub>4</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from blue hydrogen, to evaluate whether it can be expected to earn its 'low carbon' moniker. While our primary focus is on hydrogen emissions, we also discuss potential emissions of hydrogen derivatives, focusing on ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>), and their impacts. Although not considered in this study, they are also important for understanding the full picture of the environmental impacts of a hydrogen economy.

This study is not an exhaustive analysis of all possible hydrogen futures. Instead, we focus on a range of desirable and plausible scenarios for Germany in 2045, guided by Germany's National Hydrogen strategy and the government's net-zero scenarios. For this reason, we consider only green and blue hydrogen. Nonetheless, it can be expected that all hydrogen production technologies will lead to hydrogen emissions, so many of our findings will still be relevant. When considering hydrogen emissions along the value chain, we do not consider different end-uses of hydrogen, in part because for many of the proposed end-uses it is highly uncertain if hydrogen as an energy source will truly be implemented. Furthermore, emission rates of many end-uses are extremely uncertain due to a lack of measurement data (Fan et al., 2022). Finally, we do not undertake a full lifecycle assessment in this study; emissions from the production of equipment necessary for a hydrogen economy (e.g., electrolysers, solar panels) are not considered.

### 2.1 Warming impact of hydrogen emissions

To evaluate the potential warming impact of hydrogen emissions in a future hydrogen economy, it is essential to know two things: how much hydrogen we can expect to emit and what the warming impact of these hydrogen emissions are. Hydrogen itself is not a GHG, but its chemical reactions in the atmosphere lead to an increase in the abundance of GHGs, namely methane, tropospheric ozone, and stratospheric water vapor, contributing to climate warming.

Taking into account these reactions, a recent multi-model study by Sand et al. (2023) calculated that the GWP100 for hydrogen is  $11.6 \pm 2.8$ . That is, on a per-kg basis, hydrogen is 11.6 times more effective in warming than CO<sub>2</sub>. The largest contribution to this warming effect is due to hydrogen-induced changes in methane (44%), followed by tropospheric ozone (38%), and stratospheric water vapor (18%). We use this value of GWP100 from Sand et al. (2023) to calculate the CO<sub>2</sub>-equivalence of hydrogen emissions in our study (Section 3.3).

The results of Sand et al. (2023) are consistent with two other recent studies that evaluated the GWP100 for hydrogen as  $12 \pm 6$  (Warwick et al., 2023) and  $12.8 \pm 5.2$  (Hauglustaine et al., 2022). Importantly, the uncertainty associated with the calculation of Sand et al. (2023) (one standard deviation is  $\pm 2.8$ ) is in line with uncertainties in the global warming potential for other greenhouse gases. For example, in the latest IPCC report, the GWP100 for fossil CH<sub>4</sub> is reported as  $29.8 \pm 11$ , and for N<sub>2</sub>O 273  $\pm 130$  (Forster et al., 2021).

In the IPCC context, the GWP100 for  $H_2$  was included in the 4th Assessment (AR4) (Forster et al., 2007), with a reported value of 5.8 based on the study of Derwent et al. (2001), which notably did not consider the effects due to stratospheric water vapor. This value was referenced again in the Supplemental Materials of the Fifth Assessment Report, AR5. The most recent IPCC Assessment (AR6) refers to the indirect effect of  $H_2$  on tropospheric ozone production and increasing the methane lifetime (Forster et al., 2021) without updating the GWP100 value of 5.8.

Notably, methane and tropospheric ozone are classified as short-lived climate forcers, because their atmospheric lifetimes (ca. 12 years and a few weeks in the troposphere, respectively) are short in comparison to long-lived GHGs such as CO<sub>2</sub>, which remains in the atmosphere for centuries to millennia. Hydrogen itself has an atmospheric lifetime of around two years (Sand et al., 2023), which means it is also short-lived. As a consequence, hydrogen acts as a more potent warmer over shorter timescales, which can be better represented by a short-term metric such as GWP20, the global warming potential over a 20year time period. Sand et al. (2023) calculated that the GWP20 of  $H_2$  is 37.3 ± 15.1, considerably higher than its GWP100. While considering warming impacts over a 20-year timescale (e.g., via GWP20) is arguably equally important as considering a 100-year timescale (as represented by GWP100) (Ocko et al., 2017) - among other things for limiting peak warming and achieving of the UN Sustainable Development Goals - GWP100 remains the standard metric for reporting under the UNFCCC. For this reason, not all GHG emissions benchmarks used in future-looking scenarios are expressed in CO<sub>2</sub> equivalents (CO<sub>2</sub>e) calculated with GWP20. We nonetheless use the value GWP20 from Sand et al. (2023), in addition to their GWP100 value, to report the impact of our calculated hydrogen emissions over 20-year and 100-year timescales.

### 2.2 Emissions of hydrogen along the value chain

In this section we provide an overview of the sources of hydrogen  $(H_2)$  emissions along the hydrogen value chain (see Figure 1). We briefly explain the origin of these emissions and discuss their expected magnitude based on current knowledge in the field. The emission rates used for input into our calculations are explained in the relevant subsections and summarized in Figure 2.

In October 2024, a first-ever study reporting the direct detection hydrogen emission rates in situ - at a chemical park in the Netherlands comprising an electrolyser, a hydrogen fuelling station and chemical production plants - was published (Westra et al., 2024). The authors derived aggregated H<sub>2</sub> emissions of up to 4.2% of the production volume, with the daily median being significantly lower, between 0.1 and just over 1%. Note that Westra et al. (2024) could not attribute the emissions to specific elements of the plant (e.g., production vs. storage). The study of Westra et al. (2024) complements a range of studies that estimate hydrogen emission rates at different steps along the hydrogen value chain, often based on assumptions, calculations via proxies, laboratory experiments, or simulations (Esquivel-Elizondo et al., 2023). In the following, we take a closer look at these studies and consider emissions from individual steps along the hydrogen value chain, namely production, conversion, transport and storage.

While the emission rates applied in this study are valuable for orientation, it is not yet possible to precisely quantify (future) hydrogen emissions, although high-precision sensors are under development and will soon become available. The hydrogen value chain can be very complex and variable; beyond the lack of empirical measurements from existing infrastructure, much of the hydrogen infrastructure that will be used in the future is not yet in place.

#### 2.2.1 Hydrogen emissions during production

#### Green hydrogen

One method of generating hydrogen is by electrolysis, which uses electricity to split water into its components: hydrogen ( $H_2$ ) and oxygen ( $O_2$ ). If the electricity comes from renewable energy sources, the product is known as 'green hydrogen'. There are several points during the production of green hydrogen in which gases are intentionally released for safety or process reasons, including venting during startup and shutdown and purging during the purification process. These can lead to potentially significant emissions of hydrogen. However, many of these emissions can be avoided by capturing the emitted gases and recombining the  $H_2$  and  $O_2$  to make water. A study by the Frazer-Nash Consultancy (2022) estimates hydrogen emission rates from the production of green hydrogen between 3.32% and 9.20% if venting and purging occur and 0.24% to 0.52% if hydrogen from purging and crossover venting is fully recombined. Consistent with these estimates, a study by Cooper et al. (2022) estimates that future green hydrogen production will lead to hydrogen emissions in the range of 0.1% to 4% of the hydrogen produced by considering a range of technological and regulatory measures that might be implemented by 2045. For the calculations in this study, we apply the range from Cooper et al. (2022) as the lower and upper emission rates for production of green hydrogen (Figure 2).

#### Blue hydrogen

At present, the most widely used method for producing hydrogen is steam methane reforming (SMR), in which methane from natural gas is heated with steam to produce hydrogen and carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>). If the CO<sub>2</sub> produced by SMR is captured and permanently stored, the hydrogen produced is referred to as 'blue' (for a discussion of methane and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from blue hydrogen, see Section 2.3 below). Due to process differences between SMR and electrolysis, hydrogen emissions from the production of blue hydrogen are expected to be somewhat lower than for green hydrogen. For our calculations we take the lower and upper emission rates from the study of Cooper et al. (2022), who estimate that 0.1% to 1% of the total blue hydrogen produced will be released to the atmosphere.

FIGURE 1. SCHEMATIC DIAGRAM SHOWING PRODUCTION OF GREEN AND BLUE HYDROGEN AND ASSOCIATED EMISSIONS OF HYDROGEN ( $H_2$ ), METHANE ( $CH_4$ ), AND CARBON DIOXIDE ( $CO_2$ ).



Source: Authors.

#### FIGURE 2. EMISSION RATES OF HYDROGEN (H2) ALONG THE VALUE CHAIN.



Source: Authors. Note: Percentages apply to the amount of hydrogen produced, converted, transported, or stored. The emission rate for storage represents an average over different storage conditions, including the storage time.

#### Hydrogen emissions during conversion

Transporting hydrogen poses significant challenges due to its extremely low energy density by volume under normal temperature and pressure conditions. For this reason, gaseous hydrogen is typically converted into another form for storage and transport. There are several different options for this; here we consider conversion to compressed hydrogen gas at high pressures as well as the chemical conversion to ammonia. These options (and associated further steps along the hydrogen value chain) are shown in Figure 3.

## FIGURE 3. SCHEMATIC DIAGRAM SHOWING THE STEPS ALONG THE HYDROGEN VALUE CHAIN AND THEIR ASSOCIATED EMISSIONS OF $H_2$ , $CH_4$ , AND $CO_2$ , AS CONSIDERED IN THIS STUDY.



#### Source: Authors

#### Compression

For hydrogen to be transported via long-distance pipeline, it needs to be converted to compressed hydrogen gas. During the compression process, it is expected that hydrogen emissions will primarily result from pipework and equipment leakage due to the high pressures involved (compressed hydrogen is typically stored at pressures between 300 and 700 bar). In this study, we have taken the range of hydrogen emission rates during compression of 0.14% to 0.27% from Cooper et al. (2022).

#### **Conversion to ammonia**

Ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>) is an attractive choice of hydrogen carrier due to several favourable properties. The energy required for conversion from hydrogen is relatively low, and ammonia can be stored as a liquid or as a gas at more reasonable conditions (e.g., as a liquid at -33°C and standard pressure or a gas at 10 bar and room temperature) (Bertagni et al., 2023). Ammonia can also be burned directly as a fuel in many end-uses.

The conversion of hydrogen to ammonia is achieved via the Haber-Bosch process (N<sub>2</sub> +  $3H_2 \rightarrow 2$  NH<sub>3</sub>). This process is also expected to lead to some hydrogen emissions, but there are no published studies that estimate an emission rate. Here we use an emission rate of 0.2% to 0.5% based on the study of Fan et al. (2022), who based their estimate on a comparison to similar technologies for the production of chemical synthetic fuels.

#### Infobox 1 Ammonia emissions and their climate and environmental impact

There is the potential for emissions of ammonia to occur during its production, transport and storage, and also further down the ammonia value chain (e.g., use via direct combustion or re-conversion to hydrogen). Since ammonia is toxic to humans and ecosystems, it is expected that significant emission rates will not be tolerated, with some safety regulations already in place. There is little data on emissions of ammonia, and we have not quantified them in this study.

If usage of ammonia increases as part of the growth of a hydrogen economy, it will be important to ensure that emissions are minimized – and not only because of their directly toxic effects. Ammonia also indirectly impacts the climate. First, on short timescales, it forms atmospheric aerosol particles, which reflect sunlight and have a cooling effect. Second, over longer timescales, ammonia gets oxidized to nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) (Bertagni et al., 2023). This can happen via several pathways, including atmospheric deposition followed by microbial oxidation. Nitrous oxide is a long-lived GHG with a global warming potential (GWP100) of 273 (IPCC, 2021). Ammonia's net impact on climate – weighing the cooling and warming effect on different timescales – has not yet been quantified.

#### 2.2.2 Hydrogen emissions during transport

Infrastructure for the transport of hydrogen will take multiple forms. Here we consider two primary modes of long-distance transport: transport of gaseous hydrogen via pipeline and transport of ammonia via (international) shipping (see also Section 3.3.1). For regional and domestic distribution – i.e., the 'last mile' of transport which gets the hydrogen to the point of end-use (e.g., to a fuelling station) – both distribution pipelines and various forms of truck transport (e.g., high-pressure tube trailers) could be used. In general, it can be assumed that the majority of hydrogen emissions from gaseous hydrogen transport will result from the long-distance rather than local transport, both due to higher pressures (for pipelines) and the longer distances involved (Mendelevitch & Heinemann, 2024).

#### Transport via pipeline

For transport over long distances, a significant fraction will be sent via pipeline – using both existing (retrofitted) natural gas transmission pipelines and dedicated hydrogen pipelines. In both cases, the hydrogen is transported through the pipelines as compressed gaseous hydrogen at high pressures. Pipelines designed for regional and domestic distribution would operate with lower hydrogen pressures (Hormaza Mejia et al., 2020). Hydrogen can be emitted via pipework leakage, diffusion and venting (Cooper et al., 2022).

For our study, we estimate the hydrogen emission rate due to transport via pipeline based on a study by the Öko-Institut, taking low and high values of 0.04 per 1000 km to 0.24% per 1000 km, respectively (Mendelevitch & Heinemann, 2024). We apply these emission rates to both the international and domestic transport distances (Table A2).

#### Transport via ship

For our scenarios, we have assumed that hydrogen transported via long-distance shipping will be shipped in the form of ammonia (see also Section 3.3.1). While we account for emissions of hydrogen during the conversion to ammonia (Section 2.2.2), transport of liquid ammonia will not result in any direct hydrogen emissions. However, ammonia emissions can impact the climate (Infobox 1; Bertagni et al., 2023).

#### 2.2.3 Hydrogen emissions from storage

There are many options for storing hydrogen, including in the form of a derivative like ammonia. Since our aim is to quantify emissions of (molecular) hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>), we consider storage options for H<sub>2</sub> (and not for derivatives) here.

#### Underground storage facilities

Longer-term underground storage of hydrogen can take place in geological formations such as salt caverns, depleted oil and gas reservoirs, and aquifers (Al-Shafi et al., 2023). The more commonly used salt caverns are assumed for this study. The main source of hydrogen emissions from underground storage is expected to occur at the surface processing plant. Releases of hydrogen gas can occur during plant shutdown (planned or emergency) and maintenance activities. We use a range of emission rates of 0.02% to 0.06% based on the estimates of the Frazer-Nash Consultancy (2022).

#### Above-ground storage facilities

Hydrogen can also be stored in compressed tanks for balancing fluctuations in gas supply and demand, or for example for truck transport or at hydrogen filling stations. Leakage rates are dependent on the storage pressure, storage time, cylinder and valve material, and cylinder size. Assuming the storage of compressed gaseous hydrogen, we take the minimum and maximum leakage rates of 2.77% and 6.52% of total hydrogen stored from the Frazer-Nash Consultancy (2022); these emission rates were derived assuming an average over a variety of end uses and storage conditions.

### 2.3 Additional GHG emissions from the production of blue hydrogen

In contrast to green hydrogen, production of blue hydrogen also results in emissions of the GHGs methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) and carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), which we consider below.

#### 2.3.1 Methane

In SMR, methane from natural gas is the feedstock used to produce hydrogen. Methane is a potent GHG with a global warming potential nearly 30 times greater than CO<sub>2</sub> over a 100-year timescale.<sup>1</sup> Methane emissions from the natural gas supply chain (referred to as upand midstream methane emissions) are responsible for a significant fraction of blue hydrogen's carbon footprint. These up- and midstream emissions are expected to be significantly higher than the methane emissions from the SMR production process itself; in our calculations we don't treat methane emissions from production separately. That is, we assume that the total methane emissions from the natural gas supply chain plus SMR production are covered by the range of emission rates we use (see Figures 2 and 4 and discussion below).

Methane emissions from the natural gas supply chain are currently poorly quantified, in part due to lack of measurements and poor data availability as well as large variations in emission intensities depending on factors such as well location and use (or not) of practices like venting and flaring. Satellites are being increasingly used to quantify methane, including the newly-launched MethaneSat, which will quantify methane emissions from the global down to the local scale (https://www.methanesat.org/).

In this study, methane emission intensities for blue hydrogen production are assumed for a low and a high case. For the low case, we assume a methane emission rate of 0.2%, corresponding to the Oil and Gas Climate Initiative's target for 2025 (Barry, 2023). For the high emissions case, we assume an emission rate of 4% of the total methane input into the blue hydrogen production process (Lin et al., 2021).

#### 2.3.2 Carbon dioxide

In the SMR process, CH<sub>4</sub> reacts with water, producing hydrogen and carbon monoxide (CH<sub>4</sub> +H<sub>2</sub>O  $\rightarrow$  CO + 3H<sub>2</sub>). The carbon monoxide (CO) then reacts with water to produce CO<sub>2</sub> and additional hydrogen (CO + H<sub>2</sub>O  $\rightarrow$  CO<sub>2</sub> + H<sub>2</sub>). Thus, the SMR process itself produces carbon dioxide as 'process emissions.' In addition, the energy to power the SMR process is generally generated by combustion of fossil fuels, producing CO<sub>2</sub> emissions.

The production of blue hydrogen assumes the application of carbon capture and storage (CCS) to the SMR process. Currently, capture rates of operating CCS plants coupled to hydrogen production are only 50-60% overall (Collodi et al., 2017). This low rate of capture is mainly due to the fact that only the  $CO_2$  from the process emissions (syngas) is captured, and not from the combustion emissions. Carbon capture rates of 90% have been demonstrated for setups where  $CO_2$  from both gas streams is captured (Office of Fossil Energy and Carbon Management, 2024). However, this technique has not yet been applied for the production of hydrogen with SMR. In this study, we assume a CCS efficiency of 60% in a low case (representing today's capture rates) and 90% in a high case (see Figure 4).

Notably, there is increasing interest in alternate technologies for hydrogen production such as air-fed autothermal reforming (ATR). For ATR it is expected that CCS would be more cost effective because carbon dioxide emissions from the ATR process are nearly entirely confined to the process gas stream and are more highly concentrated (Gorski et al., 2021). However, using ATR is currently only common for the production of ammonia and methanol, and not yet for the industrial production of blue hydrogen (Gorski et al., 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The GWP100 of methane was assessed as 27.9 in the IPCC Sixth Assessment Report (Smith et al., 2021). Over a 20-year timescale the impact is even greater: the GWP20 of methane is 81.2 (Smith et al., 2021).

## FIGURE 4. EMISSION RATES OF METHANE $(CH_4)$ AND CARBON DIOXIDE $(CO_2)$ FROM BLUE HYDROGEN PRODUCTION USED IN OUR SCENARIOS.



Source: Authors.

## 2.4 Emissions for blue hydrogen based on the EU definition of 'low-carbon' hydrogen

In Sections 2.2 and 2.3, we provide a process-based view of direct and indirect GHG emissions along the hydrogen value chain, considering production, conversion, transport, and storage. Based on current data and expectations regarding the future development of technology and regulations, we have selected high and low emission rates for each step, which we then use to calculate emissions in our study. For simplicity, the calculations using the high and low emission rates throughout are labelled 'max' and 'min', respectively. Note that they reflect the maximum and minimum of the values used in the context of this study rather than maxima and minima of all existing estimates on emission rates.

For blue hydrogen, the methane and  $CO_2$  emissions resulting from 'max' emission rates (and resulting total emissions) are quite high. Although these high emissions rates are in many cases a realistic representation of current practices (particularly the low capture rates for  $CO_2$ ), it is likely that future blue hydrogen imports by Germany (see discussion in Section 3.3.2) will meet the EU standard for 'low-carbon' hydrogen as recently defined in the Hydrogen and Decarbonized Gas Market Package (HDGMP). The definition specifies that there must be a 70% reduction in GHGs compared to fossil fuels, which translates into a maximum emission intensity of 3.38 kg  $CO_2e$  per kg of hydrogen produced (see also Sections 4.1 and 4.3). Although the HDGMP indicated that the methodology for calculating GHG emissions savings for low-carbon hydrogen should consider emissions due to the leakage of hydrogen, the recently-published draft methodology does not consider H<sub>2</sub> emissions, citing an insufficient level of precision for hydrogen's global warming potential (GWP100).

Based on these developments, we use a third approach for calculating emissions in our scenarios that include blue hydrogen: namely, instead of applying process-based leakage rates, we assume the blue hydrogen value chain will emit  $CH_4+CO_2$  at a rate of 3.38 kg  $CO_2e$  per kg of hydrogen, so that it (just) meets the definition for low-carbon hydrogen. We refer to these calculations as 'EU-max,' as they can be considered an alternate 'maximum' level of emissions in Germany's future hydrogen economy in 2045. Following the methodology for renewable fuels of non-biological origin (RFNBOs; see Section 4.1), we apply the threshold emissions intensity (i.e., 3.38 kg  $CO_2e$  per kg of hydrogen). In our 'EU-max' calculations, hydrogen emissions resulting from the production of blue hydrogen as well as emissions from green hydrogen along its value chain are based on the high (max) emission rates as described in Section 2.2 and Figure 1.

## 3 Germany's Future Hydrogen Economy: What is its potential GHG footprint?

This chapter explores Germany's future hydrogen economy and its potential contribution to GHG emissions, both direct and indirect. Section 3.1 outlines the National Hydrogen Strategy (updated in 2023), highlighting key targets for domestic production, infrastructure, transport and storage, as well as import pathways. Section 3.2 briefly discusses the government's 'Langfristszenarien' (long-term scenarios) for carbon neutrality by 2045. Against this backdrop, Section 3.3 quantifies potential hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>) and hydrogen-related (i.e., CH<sub>4</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub>) emissions across different illustrative scenarios for Germany's hydrogen economy in 2045. The analysis includes both emissions along the domestic supply chain as well as from hydrogen imports, thus quantifying potential residual emissions not accounted for in the German government's net-zero scenarios.

## 3.1 Germany's National Hydrogen Strategy: a short overview

Germany's National Hydrogen Strategy (BMWK, 2023b), initially adopted in 2020 and updated in 2023, is part of the government's wider climate protection goal,<sup>2</sup> which aims to reduce GHGs by 65% by 2030 and 88 percent by 2040 (compared to 1990 levels) and achieve net zero GHGs by 2045 (BMWK, 2023a). The updated hydrogen strategy is divided into four fields of action in the period until 2030: ensuring hydrogen availability, building an efficient infrastructure, implementing hydrogen applications, and creating effective framework conditions (BMWK, 2023b). Against this backdrop, Germany plans to develop its future hydrogen economy in two phases: the first focuses on building a domestic market, while the second phase foresees increased import of European and international hydrogen resources. Figure 5 provides an overview of the key projections and targets of the updated strategy.

FIGURE 5. KEY TARGETS OF THE GERMAN NATIONAL HYDROGEN STRATEGY, UP-DATE 2023.



Source: Authors.

#### 3.1.1 Expected hydrogen demand by 2030

In its updated hydrogen strategy, the federal government expects that Germany will need between 95 and 130 TWh of hydrogen and its derivatives (e.g., ammonia and methanol) by 2030, with a potential increase depending on price and market developments in the coming years (BMWK, 2023b). This includes the existing hydrogen demand of 55 TWh

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Adopted under the German Climate Protection Act in 2019.

(currently covered by 'grey', natural gas-based hydrogen) as well as a newly emerging demand of 40 to 75 TWh, as projected in various energy scenarios<sup>3</sup> (BMWK, 2023b). The new demand for hydrogen is expected to come in large part from industry, most notably from the steel and chemical sectors; maritime shipping, aviation, and heavy-duty transport are also expected to play a role. Some use is also expected in the electricity sector to ensure back-up capacity in times of scarce renewable resources. However, the predicted demand for hydrogen and its synthesis products varies significantly across different GHG reduction scenarios and studies (Wietschel et al., 2021).

#### 3.1.2 Hydrogen supply

Germany aims to produce 30 - 50% (i.e., 30 - 56 TWh) of its hydrogen supply domestically by 2030, focusing on 'green' hydrogen produced from renewable energy sources. Through a mix of policy instruments, electrolysers with a capacity of up to 10 gigawatts (GW) are planned to be installed by 2030 for domestic hydrogen production (BMWK, 2023b). The majority of electrolysers will be located in the Northern parts of Germany due to the relative abundance of renewable (primarily wind) energy and proximity to potential hydrogen storage locations (Wietschel, 2021; 2023).

Due to limited domestic production capacities, Germany will be heavily dependent on future hydrogen imports (Westphal et al., 2020; Quitzow et al., 2024). In its strategy, the government estimates that 50 - 70% (i.e., 45 - 90 TWh) of the projected demand for 2030 will have to be covered by imports from European and non-European countries in the form of hydrogen and hydrogen derivatives (BMWK, 2023b). In line with projected market and price developments after 2030, a separate hydrogen import strategy, published in July 2024, projects that demand for imports will increase to 360 - 500 TWh of molecular hydrogen, and about 200 TWh of hydrogen derivatives (e.g. ammonia, methanol) and other synthetic hydrocarbons by 2045 (BMWK, 2024c).

Although direct financial support for hydrogen production is limited to green hydrogen, the updated hydrogen strategy also promotes low-carbon ('blue') hydrogen based on natural gas combined with carbon capture and storage (CCS), which is planned to be imported in the short- to mid-term. The German government has already entered into cooperation agreements with Norway and the United Arab Emirates (UAE) to facilitate the import of blue hydrogen and its derivatives from these countries to Germany (BMWK, 2022; BMWK, 2023c). To ensure a positive climate balance when using this energy carrier, the national hydrogen strategy advocates for the development of 'ambitious' emission standards for the production of blue hydrogen. There are no explicit targets or estimates of the amount of blue hydrogen imports the government expects.

#### 3.1.3 Transport, distribution and storage

The updated hydrogen strategy further includes plans for creating an initial domestic hydrogen grid by 2027-2028, comprising 1,800 km of new and refurbished pipelines. Expanding this initial infrastructure plan, a law establishing the legal framework for integrating the German 'Kernnetz' (core network) into a network development plan for hydrogen and natural gas was passed in April 2024 (BMWK, 2024a). This 'Wasserstoff-Kernnetz' (hydrogen core network), which will connect large consumer and producer regions in Germany, will be put into operation between 2025 and 2032 (see Figure 6) (FNB Gas e.V., 2024a). The final plan for the 9,666 km hydrogen core network was submitted to the Federal Network Agency in July 2024 and is also integrated into the European Hydrogen Backbone to accelerate the development of a trans-European hydrogen infrastructure (BMWK, 2024b). In the long-term, the core network will be expanded into a 'Hydrogen Network 2050' with a targeted offtake capacity of over 500 TWh of hydrogen (FNB Gas e. V., 2024b). The BMWK announced a separate strategy for the storage of hydrogen to be published at the end of 2024 (BMWK, 2024c).

20

3 This refers to projections made in the government's 'Langfristszenarien' (long-term scenarios) for Germany's energy system in 2045, which is discussed in more detail below.

FIGURE 6. DRAFT MAP AND KEY PARAMETERS OF THE GERMAN HYDROGEN INFRA-STRUCTURE PLAN. SOLID LINE: REPURPOSED PIPELINE. DOTTED LINE: NEW PIPE-LINE.



Source: FNB Gas e. V. (2024a)

Regarding international transport routes, the government plans the parallel development of pipelines (for imports from Europe and neighbouring countries) and import terminals (for international ship-based imports). Currently planned onshore LNG terminals are being built 'H<sub>2</sub>-ready' so that they can be retrofitted for hydrogen at no more than 10-15% of the investment cost. Pipeline development initially focusses on the North-Sea region, with the first pipeline to be built between Germany and Denmark, starting operation in 2028; from 2030 onwards, further pipeline imports are planned from Norway, the Netherlands and Belgium. Additionally, the German government is advancing infrastructure projects along designated import corridors from non-European countries. These include the South-West and Southern Corridor, where new and repurposed pipelines are planned to enable imports from Spain, Portugal and possibly Morocco via France to Germany ('H2Med' and 'Hy-FEN') as well as from Algeria and Tunisia via Italy, Austria and possibly Switzerland ('SoutH2') (BMWK, 2024c). Moreover, a Central European Hydrogen Corridor was initiated in 2021 to develop hydrogen transport infrastructure from Ukraine via Slovakia and Czech Republic to Germany (CEHC, 2024). While most imports are expected to be pipeline-based by 2045, ships will remain significant for derivative imports.

## 3.2 Long-term scenarios for a climate-neutral energy system in 2045

While the hydrogen supply and demand forecasts at the core of the national hydrogen strategy are limited to projections for 2030, the government has also commissioned the development of long-term net-zero scenarios that model possible pathways to reaching carbon neutrality by 2045. They encompass the entire energy system, including generation of electricity, heat, and hydrogen, as well as the future demand for hydrogen across the

industry, transportation, buildings and appliances sectors. Hydrogen infrastructures and future import-export flows are also modelled (Senßfuß et al., 2021 and updates<sup>4</sup>). Due to their longer time horizon and regular updates, these scenarios differ from the national hydrogen strategy in their estimates and projections for a hydrogen-based future German energy system.

This report draws on two recently developed long-term scenarios as the basis for quantifying a low- and a high-demand case for hydrogen in our subsequent analysis: the first case prioritizes direct electrification and relies less on the use of hydrogen (referred to as 'Low Demand' in this report), while the second case relies more heavily on hydrogen with less direct use of electricity (referred to as 'High Demand' in this report).<sup>5</sup> Figure 7 provides an overview of the estimated quantities of domestic hydrogen production as well hydrogen imports in the two cases.



#### FIGURE 7. PROJECTIONS FOR GERMAN HYDROGEN SUPPLY/DEMAND IN 2045.

Source: Authors, based on the Langfristszenarien (Senßfuß et al., 2021 and updates).

### 3.3 Estimating GHG emissions in Germany's future hydrogen economy

#### 3.3.1 Technical assumptions, parameters and scenarios

While research on the GHG emissions implications of Germany's hydrogen plans is expanding, precise assessments are challenging as many components along the supply chain remain uncertain (see Riemer et al., 2022; Heneka & Mörs, 2022; Agora Industry & TU Hamburg, 2023; Guidehouse, 2024; Gatzen et al., 2024; Mendelevitch & Heinemann, 2024). Germany's net-zero strategy and the government's long-term scenarios for 2045 are modelled based on an emissions reduction target of at least 95% compared to current levels and only include electricity-based hydrogen. The projected residual emissions in these net-zero scenarios (63 Mt CO<sub>2</sub>e, GWP100) represent the total domestic GHG emissions that Germany will not have eliminated by 2045 and will thus require offsetting through carbon dioxide removal (CDR) to achieve Germany's net zero target. Importantly, these residual emissions do not include any hydrogen emissions from the value chain.

We build and expand upon previous studies' contributions by assessing direct and indirect GHG emissions in different scenarios for a German hydrogen supply chain in 2045. In

<sup>4</sup> Updated scenarios, used in our analysis, are available at https://langfristszenarien.de/enertile-explorer-de/dokumente/.

<sup>5</sup> In the original 'Langfristszenarien' (long-term scenarios), the 'High Demand' scenario is labeled as 'O45-H2' and the 'Low Demand' scenario is labeled as 'O45-Electricity' (Senßfuß et al., 2021 and updates).

addition to hydrogen emissions in the domestic green hydrogen supply chain, we also quantify upstream hydrogen emissions of green hydrogen imports as well as additional methane and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions of imported blue hydrogen. Even though these emissions are not generated in Germany itself but in the exporting countries, they nevertheless play an important role for the overall GHG footprint contribution of Germany's future hydrogen economy<sup>6</sup>. Our analysis therefore sheds light on potential direct and indirect GHG emissions not accounted for in the German government's net-zero scenarios for 2045, as well as differences in emissions intensity of alternative import options and pathways.

While we adopt the parameters for domestic production and import quantities of the longterm scenarios ('High Demand' and 'Low Demand' case), other assumptions such as the ratio of ship-based vs. pipeline-based transport, green vs. blue hydrogen imports as well as average international and domestic transport distances reflect illustrative estimates based on the government's hydrogen strategy as well as previous studies' calculations. In addition, background conversations with several experts in Germany were held to validate our assumptions and key findings. For simplification and illustration, we make several baseline assumptions (see Tables A2 and A3 in Appendix for further information):

- First, we assume that only green hydrogen will be produced domestically in Germany in 2045, in line with the policy framework of the national hydrogen strategy; if blue hydrogen is used, it will be imported.
- Second, we assume that molecular hydrogen is imported exclusively by pipeline and derivatives exclusively by ship. For derivatives we focus on ammonia as it is already shipped internationally in significant volumes, and major terminal projects are currently under development in Northern Germany, with estimated completion by 2030 (BMWK, 2024c).
- Third, for pipeline imports of hydrogen, we assume an illustrative distance of 3,300 km for imports from North Africa (e.g., Algeria, Morocco, Tunisia), and a representative distance of 1,200 km for imports from within Europe (e.g., Norway, Denmark, Netherlands), in order to have two broadly representative values of the government's current pipeline plans (BMWK, 2024c; 2024d). For simplification, we distribute pipeline imports evenly across both regions (half from within Europe, and half from North Africa).
- Fourth, for domestic hydrogen transport and distribution, we assume an average distance of 350 km, which serves as a simplified but illustrative distance between major industry clusters (where hydrogen demand will be highest) and hydrogen import/storage facilities in the Northern parts of Germany (Wietschel, 2023).
- Fifth, estimates for storage capacity reflect only values for gaseous (pipeline-transported) hydrogen storage.
- Sixth, blue hydrogen is assumed to be produced (in the exporting country) through SMR in combination with CCS.

We then develop three illustrative scenarios for a German hydrogen supply chain in 2045 with variations in total demand as well as the type of imported hydrogen: only green imports ('G' scenarios), green and blue imports ('GB' scenarios), and only blue imports ('B' scenarios) (see Table A3). As part of the 'G' scenarios (only green H<sub>2</sub> imports), which reflect an exclusively green hydrogen supply chain in 2045, we also vary the means of transport (pipeline or ship) in order to highlight the implications of different import pathways for total emissions. In the 'GB' scenarios (green and blue H<sub>2</sub> imports), we illustrate the role of additional upstream emissions – specifically the impact of methane and CO<sub>2</sub> – assuming that one third of all imported hydrogen in 2045 will be blue. Finally, the 'B' scenarios (only blue H<sub>2</sub> imports) serve as an illustration of additional upstream emissions from methane and CO<sub>2</sub> production assuming all imported hydrogen will be blue. Taken together, these scenarios allow us to illustrate the potential magnitude of hydrogen emissions within a green hydrogen supply chain that are not accounted for in the net-zero scenarios, and to shed light on relevant upstream GHG emissions if Germany was to also import (a share of) blue hydrogen in 2045.

<sup>6</sup> Only GHG emissions occurring on German territory are counted towards the national climate balance; emissions from imported hydrogen are attributed to the country where these emissions occur and would reflect imported or 'embedded' emissions which officially are not accounted for.

FIGURE 8. ILLUSTRATIVE SCENARIOS FOR HYDROGEN ECONOMY IN GERMANY IN 2045 USED IN OUR CALCULATIONS.



Source: Authors

#### 3.3.2 Results and discussion

Our assessment of hydrogen  $(H_2)$ , methane  $(CH_4)$ , and carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$  emissions across different hydrogen supply scenarios for Germany in 2045 highlights the range of potential emissions of hydrogen, methane, and CO<sub>2</sub> resulting from hydrogen production, conversion, transport, and storage. The main results of our calculations are summarized in Table 1 below, which comprises a selection of scenarios for ease of comparison. Table A1 in the Appendix includes a full summary of our scenario results. Each scenario represents a potential hydrogen future with assumptions about the amount and type of hydrogen produced, the location of its production and associated transport modes and distances (Figure 1, Table A3). To highlight a plausible range of expected emissions intensities (and resulting total emissions) depending on assumptions regarding technology and policy development (see Sections 2.2 and 2.3), we perform two calculations based on the low and high emission rates discussed in Section 2 (referred to as 'min' and 'max' respectively) for each scenario. For scenarios that include blue hydrogen we perform an additional calculation ('EU-max') applying an alternate approach for calculating the 'maximum' emissions from blue hydrogen, where we assume that imported blue hydrogen will meet the EU standard for low-carbon hydrogen and apply the associated threshold for emissions intensity (3.38 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e per kg of hydrogen, see Section 2.4).

Table 1 presents our calculation of  $H_2$ ,  $CH_4$ , and  $CO_2$  emissions for our scenarios, shown in units of Mt  $CO_2e$  calculated using both GWP100 and GWP20. For most scenarios, we see that the total emissions in Mt  $CO_2e$  are significantly higher if  $CO_2$  equivalence ( $CO_2e$ ) is calculated on the basis of GWP20; this is because both hydrogen and methane emissions are more potent on shorter timescales (see discussion in Section 2.1). For scenarios that are dominated by  $CO_2$  emissions (e.g., B1 using 'min' emission rates), the difference between using GWP100 and GWP20 is smaller.

For interpreting our results, one benchmark we use is the projected residual emissions assumed in Germany's net zero scenarios in 2045: 63 Mt  $CO_2e$ , calculated using GWP100. This serves as a point of reference to evaluate whether emissions calculated for the hydrogen value chain are comparatively large or small. Note that a gas-by-gas breakdown of the projected 63 MtCO2e of residual emissions is not available, and it is thus not possible to convert these residual emissions to MtCO<sub>2</sub>e based on GWP20.

## TABLE 1. OVERVIEW OF EMISSIONS ALONG THE HYDROGEN VALUE CHAIN FOR SELECTED SCENARIOS.

Scenario	Emission rates [GWP100]	emissions (Mt CO <sub>2</sub> e)	Total emissions (Mt CO <sub>2</sub> e)	Equivalent % of residual emissions in 2045		blit into emitted gases It CO₂e) [GWP100]		
		[GWP100]	[GWP20]	[GWP100]	H <sub>2</sub>	CH <sub>4</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	
G1	Min	1.04	3.36	1.7 %	1.04	0.00	0.00	
	Мах	10.80	34.72	17.1 %	10.80	0.00	0.00	
00	Min	0.71	2.29	1.1 %	0.71	0.00	0.00	
G2	Мах	5.84	18.78	9.3 %	5.84	0.00	0.00	
	Min	5.74	9.38	9.1 %	1.04	0.75	3.94	
GB1	Мах	40.15	87.46	63.7 %	9.33	15.06	15.75	
	Max-EU	23.57	*	37.41 %	9.33	14.24		
	Min	2.67	4.80	4.2 %	0.71	0.31	1.64	
GB2	Мах	18.09	40.79	28.7 %	5.23	6.29	6.57	
	Max-EU	11.17	*	17.73 %	5.23	5.94		
	Min	15.15	21.47	24.1 %	1.04	2.26	11.84	
B1	Мах	99.06	193.32	157.2 %	6.39	45.30	47.37	
	Max-EU	49.20	*	78.10 %	6.39	42.81		
	Min	6.58	9.83	10.5 %	0.71	0.94	4.93	
B2	Мах	42.58	84.80	67.6 %	4.01	18.86	19.72	
	Max-EU	21.83	*	34.65 %	4.01	17	7.82	

\*Since the EU emissions intensity threshold is for aggregated GHG emissions and defined based on GWP100, it is not possible to present results using GWP20.

In Table 2 we show which of our calculated emissions are produced domestically (i.e., in Germany); the remainder of the emissions are produced outside of Germany and are therefore considered 'imported' or 'embedded' from a German standpoint. This is politically relevant because only domestic emissions are required to be considered within Germany's national climate accounting – i.e., only domestically-produced residual emissions need to be compensated to reach Germany's net zero goal for 2045.<sup>7</sup> In the 'G' scenarios that consider exclusively green hydrogen, roughly 30-70% of the (hydrogen) emissions produced are domestic. In scenarios that include blue hydrogen, the proportion of international emissions is significantly higher. This is because these scenarios assume that any blue hydrogen in Germany's hydrogen mix would be imported, with the overall warming impact being primarily driven by the  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  emissions associated with blue hydrogen production. While these emissions are extremely relevant for the global climate, they would not be counted towards Germany's national climate balance.

<sup>7</sup> And as of now, hydrogen is not officially recognized as an indirect GHG and is excluded.

Scenario	Emission rates	Total emissions (Mt CO <sub>2</sub> e) [GWP100]	Domestic emissions (Mt CO <sub>2</sub> e) [GWP100]	Total emissions (Mt CO₂e) [GWP20]	Domestic emissions (Mt CO <sub>2</sub> e) [GWP20]
G1	Min	1.04	0.57 (55 %)	3.36	1.85 (55 %)
61	Мах	10.80	3.88 (36 %)	34.72	12.47 (36 %)
G2	Min	0.71	0.52 (72 %)	2.29	1.70 (74 %)
62	Max	5.84	2.96 (51 %)	18.78	9.51 (51 %)
	Min	5.74	0.57 (10 %)	9.38	1.85 (20 %)
GB1	Max	40.15	3.88 (10 %)	87.46	12.47 (14 %)
	Max-EU	23.57	-	-	-
	Min	2.67	0.52 (19 %)	4.80	1.66 (35 %)
GB2	Мах	18.09	2.96 (16 %)	40.79	9.51 (23 %)
	Max-EU	11.17	-	-	-
	Min	15.15	0.57 (4 %)	21.47	1.85 (9 %)
B1	Max	99.06	3.88 (4 %)	193.32	12.47 (6 %)
	Max-EU	49.60	-	-	-
	Min	6.58	0.52 (8 %)	9.83	1.66 (17 %)
B2	Мах	42.58	2.96 (7 %)	84.80	9.51 (11 %)
	Max-EU	21.83	-	-	-

## TABLE 2. OVERVIEW OF THE SHARE OF DOMESTIC (VS IMPORTED) EMISSIONS ALONG THE HYDROGEN VALUE CHAIN FOR SELECTED SCENARIOS.

\*The Max-EU calculation for the blue hydrogen imports apply the threshold emissions intensity assuming it covers the whole value chain, so the emissions cannot be separated into domestic vs. imported. Furthermore, since the EU emissions intensity threshold is for aggregated GHG emissions and defined based on GWP100, it is not possible to present results using GWP20.

#### Green hydrogen: Indirect greenhouse gas effect of hydrogen emissions

First, looking at the all-green hydrogen scenarios for Germany's future energy system (G1 and G2), the impact of hydrogen emissions varies significantly depending on emission rates (see also Section 2.2 and Table 1). Under assumptions of high ('max') emission rates, we calculate that the total emissions would amount to almost 11 Mt CO<sub>2</sub>e in a high-demand scenario (G1). To put this into perspective: this value represents approximately 17% of Germany's projected residual GHG emissions in 2045 under its net-zero scenario. By contrast, assuming low ('min') emission rates, the climate impact would be significantly smaller, equivalent to less than 2% of the projected residual GHG emissions for 2045. Notably, the maximum hydrogen emissions in a future energy system that relies less on green hydrogen and more on electrification (G2) are only about half of those compared to the high-demand scenario (G1) (Table 1 and Figure 9). This points to the important role of electrification with renewable energy in meeting a share of Germany's clean energy needs in 2045, and hence in reducing indirect GHG emissions from hydrogen.

## FIGURE 9. HYDROGEN EMISSIONS RESULTING FROM SCENARIOS USING ALL GREEN HYDROGEN (G1 & G2).



#### Source: Authors.

Furthermore, our results show that under assumption of high emission rates, production by electrolysis emerges as the primary source of hydrogen emissions along the value chain for green hydrogen (Figure 9). Importantly, the maximum emission rate assumes the intentional release of gases due to the practices of venting and purging of hydrogen from the electrodes, and during the purification step (commonly referred to as 'hydrogen venting'). By contrast, the minimum emissions rate assumes that such gas release is minimized by capturing the vented hydrogen and recombining it with oxygen to form water, thereby reducing emissions. Consequently, the main determinant of the emissions footprint during hydrogen production is the operational practice employed. If minimum emission rates are assumed, the contribution of electrolysis to hydrogen emissions decreases significantly and emissions resulting from conversion and storage play a larger role. Hydrogen emissions from transport are comparably low.

Given the high share of hydrogen emissions during electrolysis (under assumptions of high emission rates), green hydrogen imports to Germany would already carry substantial 'embedded' emissions from production. In addition to these, a smaller amount of hydrogen emissions would also result from compression and transport via pipeline to (and within) Germany. Here, our results highlight that particularly the distance transported via pipeline plays a role: total hydrogen emissions from transport within Europe would be significantly less than those of transport from North Africa (Figure 10). By contrast, in the case of shipbased imports of ammonia, hydrogen emissions would result only from the conversion process and not from transport to Germany, thus making shipping the 'least' hydrogen emissions-intense import mode in our scenarios. Instead, the transport via ship could lead to potentially significant emissions from ammonia leakage, which are not quantified in this study (see Infobox 1 in Section 2.2).

## FIGURE 10. COMPARISON OF HYDROGEN EMISSIONS FOR DIFFERENT TRANSPORT MODES.



Source: Authors.

#### Blue hydrogen: Direct greenhouse gas effect from methane and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions

Compared to an all-green scenario, the GHG footprint of a German hydrogen economy would look quite different if it included blue hydrogen imports. If one third of all imported hydrogen in 2045 were blue (GB1), Germany's supply chain would yield significant additional upstream emissions of methane and  $CO_2$  (Figure 11). While blue hydrogen production generates fewer hydrogen emissions compared to electrolysis,  $CH_4$  as well as  $CO_2$  emissions would increase the total emissions of blue imports to approx. 40 Mt  $CO_2e$  [GWP100], assuming max. emission rates. This is equivalent to 64% of the residual GHG emissions projected in Germany's net-zero scenarios (Table 1).

Hence, compared to a high-demand scenario in which only green hydrogen is imported (G1), the import of blue hydrogen (representing 1/3 of total hydrogen imports) in GB1 results in significant additional emissions of methane and CO<sub>2</sub>. For comparison: assuming that all hydrogen imports are blue (B1) results in nearly 100 Mt CO<sub>2</sub>e [GWP100] in emissions, assuming max. emission rates. Not only would this be 1.5 times the projected residual emissions in Germany's net-zero scenarios for 2045; it is also equivalent to nearly 15% of Germany's current GHG emissions (673 Mt CO<sub>2</sub>e in 2023<sup>8</sup>).

<sup>8</sup> Data from the German Umweltbundesamt, see https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/en/press/pressinformation/climate-emissions-fall-101-per-cent-in-2023-biggest#:~:text=In%20total%2C%20around%20673%20million,further%20action%20on%20climate%20protection

## FIGURE 11. COMPARISON OF EMISSIONS IN HIGH-DEMAND SCENARIOS UNDER THREE DIFFERENT ASSUMPTIONS REGARDING EMISSION RATES.



Source: Authors.

The large quantities of methane and  $CO_2$  emissions highlights the importance of methane leakage rates and CCS efficiency in countries that plan to export blue hydrogen. High CCS efficiency and low methane leakage (as targeted for example by Norway) would significantly reduce the upstream emissions of Germany's blue hydrogen imports. For blue hydrogen, we also calculate total  $CH_4 + CO_2$  emissions assuming that the imported blue hydrogen would meet the EU definition for low-carbon hydrogen ('max-EU' calculations). We see in Figure 11 and Table 1 that applying the EU threshold for low-carbon hydrogen to the blue hydrogen imports ('max-EU') significantly reduces the total emissions in comparison to the calculations using our maximum assumed emission rates ('max'). That is, assuming 'max' emission intensities for blue hydrogen (which are a reasonable representation of current practices and emission rates), the blue hydrogen would not qualify as 'lowcarbon'.

On the other hand, assuming low ('min') emission rates results in less emissions than applying the threshold emission intensity for low-carbon hydrogen. However, even assuming 'min' emission rates for blue hydrogen (which would qualify as low-carbon hydrogen), a significant amount of GHG emissions would remain 'embedded' in blue hydrogen imports. In sum, the positive climate impact of green hydrogen clearly outweighs that of blue hydrogen, even assuming that emissions of methane and CO<sub>2</sub> from blue hydrogen are minimized. Moreover, since information on individual countries' upstream leakage rates and emissions management is not readily available, there remains significant uncertainty about precise accounts of emissions resulting from future blue hydrogen imports to Germany.

To conclude, our results highlight the role of unaccounted-for domestic hydrogen emissions as well as 'embedded' emissions from imports for the GHG emissions profile of a German hydrogen supply chain in 2045. Even though the internationally emitted fraction of emissions from imported hydrogen are not attributed towards Germany's national GHG balance, they present a significant risk for global warming that needs to be accounted for when it comes to hydrogen's contribution to a global net-zero economy. While green hydrogen clearly offers a lower emissions footprint compared to blue hydrogen, uncertainties regarding total demand, emission rates and choice of transport pathway could impact the effectiveness of Germany's hydrogen strategy in meeting climate targets. Furthermore, our analysis does not fully account for lifecycle emissions, such as those associated with the production of equipment used for green hydrogen production; however, these factors play a crucial role in the broader debate about hydrogen's environmental impact (see e.g., Terlouw et al., 2024).

## 4 Existing Regulatory Landscape for Hydrogen Emissions and other Hydrogen-related GHG Emissions

The existing regulation of GHG emissions along the hydrogen value chain in Germany is primarily determined at the European level. A distinction can be made between legislation that defines political targets, definitions and thresholds along with related methodologies for assessing compliance (Section 4.1), instruments of carbon pricing (Section 4.2) and directives and regulations aimed at controlling emissions by prescribing compliance with environmental, health and safety standards (Section 4.3). In each case, different stages of the hydrogen value chain and different types of emissions are included. Collectively, they provide the framework for controlling GHG and hydrogen emissions (see the following Figure 12 for an overview). In the following, the main elements of these policies and regulations are outlined and remaining gaps are identified.

### 4.1 Targets, definitions and thresholds

The European Union's strategic (though non-binding) targets for the hydrogen ramp-up are defined in the EU hydrogen strategy (COM/2020/301) and the REPowerEU plan (COM(2022)230), which aim for the production of up to 10 million tons of renewable hydrogen within the EU and up to 10 million tons to be imported from outside the EU. The Renewable Energy Directive (RED) III (2023/2413) is the EU's central policy for defining and promoting hydrogen from renewable energy but does not consider hydrogen emissions.<sup>9</sup> In the transport sector, RED III requires that at least 1 % of fuel demand is covered by so-called renewable fuels of non-biological origin (RFNBOs), encompassing renewable hydrogen and its derivatives. For industry, it requires that 42% of industrial gases come from renewable sources by 2030 and 60% by 2035.<sup>10</sup> Finally, it defines RFNBOs as liquid and gaseous fuels the energy content of which is derived from renewable sources other than biomass. To be recognized as RFNBOs, these fuels have to be produced with electricity that meets the EU criteria for renewable energy and achieve a 70% reduction of GHG emissions compared to fossil fuels (EP & Council, 2023a).

The methodology for calculating the GHG savings of RFNBOs has been laid out in a delegated regulation (DR) supplementing the RED (EC, 2023a). DR 2023/1185 sets out the methodology for calculating the emissions saved from RFNBOs compared to the fossil comparative value of 94 g CO<sub>2</sub>e per MJ (resulting in the 70% threshold of 28.2 g CO<sub>2</sub>e per MJ, equivalent to 3.38 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e per kg of hydrogen).<sup>11</sup> In principle, the methodology attempts to include the entire value chain except the manufacturing of the machinery and equipment used. However, the methodology only records carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), nitrogen oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) and methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) emissions from the supply of rigid and elastic inputs,<sup>12</sup> from processing, from transport and distribution and from the combustion of fuel in its enduse. Possible emission savings from carbon capture and geological storage are deducted (EC, 2023b). Since the DR only covers CO2, N2O, and CH4, it does not account for hydrogen emissions.

12 Rigid inputs are inputs where 'supply cannot be expanded to meet extra demand'. Elastic inputs are inputs where 'supply can be increased to meet extra demand', such as hydrogen, electricity and petroleum (Heinemann et al., 2023a).

<sup>9</sup> Currently, most of the RED II provisions are still in force since member states have an 18-month period (starting from 20 November 2023) to transpose most of the RED III provisions into national law, with a shorter deadline, of July 2024 for some provisions related to permitting for renewables (EP & Council, 2023a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The precise methodology for calculating the quota as well as possible reductions are stipulated in EC (2024b).

<sup>11</sup> Recycled carbon fuels are also regulated by DR 2023/1185 but will not be addressed in this report.

## FIGURE 12. OVERVIEW OF EXISTING EU REGULATIONS ALONG THE HYDROGEN VALUE CHAIN.



#### Source: Authors.

Moreover, the recently adopted Hydrogen and Decarbonized Gas Market Package (HDGMP) defines low-carbon hydrogen. Low-carbon hydrogen can be produced from nonrenewable energy sources but has to meet the same 70% emissions saving threshold as RFNBOs (EP & Council, 2024a, Article 2 (11)). In addition, §9 (5) announces a delegated act (DA) to establish a methodology for calculating the emissions saved. A first draft for consultation was published on September 27th, 2024 and does not include hydrogen emissions (see more detailed discussion in 4.3.1).

In addition to the RED, the EU taxonomy for sustainable activities (2020/852) and the supplementary DR (2021/2139) contain criteria for considering hydrogen and related activities as contributing to climate change mitigation which qualifies hydrogen activities for subsidies and administrative exemptions. Included here are the production of hydrogen, the chemical storage of electricity in the form of hydrogen and the deployment of transmission and distribution networks for renewable and low-carbon gases. The central criterion is an

emissions saving threshold of 73.4% for hydrogen and 70% for hydrogen-based synthetic fuels. Since the taxonomy regulation builds on DR 2023/1185, hydrogen emissions are also not considered for the purpose of greenhouse gas accounting (EP & Council, 2020; EC, 2021).

Finally, to verify compliance with the sustainability and greenhouse saving criteria described above, §30 of RED III provides for the establishment of a mass balance certification system (EP & Council, 2023a).<sup>13</sup> Mass balance systems are distinguished from book-andclaim models by the fact that they link the certificate to the delivery of the respective physical product. Hence, they require the physical tracking of certified hydrogen along the supply chain (Seebach, 2023). While the EU does not provide for the establishment of a corresponding certification scheme, §30 and the Implementing Regulation 2022/996 on rules to verify sustainability and greenhouse gas emissions saving criteria lay down standards and principles that must be met by voluntary national and international schemes to be recognized by EU. The standards make provisions regarding the governance structure of voluntary schemes (§3), the internal monitoring (§5), the selection of independent audit and verification bodies by the scheme (§11) and the audit process itself, which requires that economic operators successfully pass an initial audit before allowing them to participate in the scheme (§10). Furthermore, specific rules are set for the audits of mass balance systems and their implementation (§15, §19) and recycled carbon fuels and renewable fuels of non-biological origin (§22) (EC, 2022). The RED, §30(3), states that these obligations shall apply regardless of whether renewable fuels and recycled carbon fuels are produced within or are imported into the Union. As of September 2024, three voluntary and national certification schemes have been pre-certified (i.e., had their technical programme approved) to validate RFNBOs and are now waiting to be formally recognized by the EC (EC, 2024a).14

### 4.2 Carbon pricing: the EU ETS and CBAM

The EU's Emissions Trading System (ETS) (2003/87/EC) requires companies to hold ETS allowances for  $CO_2$  emissions but no other direct or indirect GHG emissions in the energy, industry, and parts of the transport sector, including the production of hydrogen. In 2023 the EU introduced the Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism (CBAM), which targets imports to the EU and obliges companies that import a number of energy-intensive products to the EU to purchase certificates equivalent to EU ETS allowances. Until 2025, CBAM operates in a transitional period, during which importers of hydrogen, ammonia or steel (as energy-intensive goods) are subject to monitoring and reporting obligations. From 2026 onwards, certificates for direct emissions<sup>15</sup> must be purchased for hydrogen, ammonia and steel. Both ETS and CBAM are limited by the fact that they only address  $CO_2$  but not hydrogen emissions or other non- $CO_2$  emissions and include only emissions from production (EP & Council, 2024b; EP & Council, 2023b).<sup>16</sup>

### 4.3 Emissions control regulations

#### 4.3.1 Regulating transport and storage of hydrogen: the Hydrogen and Decarbonized Gas Market Package

The recently adopted Hydrogen and Decarbonised Gas Market Package (HDGMP), consisting of a Directive (2024/1788) and a Regulation (2024/1789), aims to update the rules of the European gas market to account for a growing share of renewable and low-carbon gases. While the package has a broad scope, it also contains provisions specifically designed to minimize hydrogen emissions during transport and storage. As outlined above (see Section 4.1), it also defines a GHG savings threshold for so-called low-carbon hydrogen (EP & Council, 2024a; 2024c).

In principle, the package represents an important step forward for the regulation of hydrogen emissions. The package not only addresses GHG emissions associated with the hydrogen value chain but also acknowledges the warming impacts of hydrogen. The wording is clear: 'Methane and hydrogen contribute to global warming. Their leakage from the natural gas and hydrogen system should thus be avoided in line with the energy efficiency first principle and in order to minimize their climate impact' (EP & Council, 2024a,

<sup>13</sup> While schemes have to comply with the criteria and threshold set out above, they are free to go beyond these.

<sup>14</sup> However, the recognition by the EC is not a requirement for EU countries to recognize certification schemes.

<sup>15 &#</sup>x27;To calculate direct emissions, all processes occurring in the installation directly or indirectly linked to hydrogen production and all fuels used in the production of hydrogen irrespective of their energetic or non-energetic use are covered'. (Graichen et al., 2023).
16 CBAM also covers indirect emissions linked to the electricity that is used in the production process. Moreover, from 2026 onwards methane and other emissions will be included in an additional shipping ETS.

preamble). In concrete terms, this is expressed in §9(5), which requires the development of a 'Methodology on greenhouse gas emissions savings from low-carbon fuels', which is to be adopted by August 2025, must be consistent with DR 2023/1185 for RFNBOs, applying the same 70% GHG emissions savings rate, and address hydrogen and methane emissions:

'That methodology shall be consistent with the methodology for assessing greenhouse gas emissions savings from renewable liquid and gaseous transport fuels of non-biological origin and from recycled carbon fuels, including the treatment of emissions due to the leakage of hydrogen, and take into account methane upstream emissions and actual carbon capture rates.' (§9).

In addition, 9(4) states that the obligations also apply regardless of whether low-carbon fuels are produced within the EU or imported.

Despite the reference to hydrogen emissions in the directive, the draft methodology, published for consultation on September 27th, 2024, does not require operators to consider hydrogen emissions along the value chain when calculating their GHG savings. This is justified by the fact that hydrogen's global warming potential has not been determined with the required level of precision. Instead, it states that hydrogen emissions will be included once the required scientific evidence is available (Draft Methodology, Preamble, Paragraph 5).

Apart from the GHG savings threshold, the directive refers to a number of monitoring and reporting requirements related to hydrogen emissions, which could later translate into more clearly defined requirements for operators. §9(6) refers to a report to evaluate hydrogen leakage, including environmental and climate risks, technical specificities and adequate maximum hydrogen leakage rates which the EC is tasked to submit 'where appropriate'. Based on this report, the Commission should, 'if appropriate', submit a legislative proposal to minimize possible risks of hydrogen leakage, set maximum hydrogen leakage rates and establish compliance mechanisms. It remains unclear, however, under what conditions such a report that could lead to further legislative measures must be compiled.

In addition, §50(1) on the tasks of the hydrogen network, storage and terminal operators defines responsibilities of the operators to reduce hydrogen emissions. It states that these shall take 'all reasonable measures available to prevent and minimize hydrogen emissions in their operations and carrying out, at regular intervals, a hydrogen leak detection and repair survey of all relevant components under the operator responsibility' (ibid., §50). It leaves open, however, what 'all reasonable measures' would entail. The operators are tasked to submit a hydrogen leak detection report and, if necessary, a repair or replacement programme to the competent authorities. The directive also requires that they publish statistical information on hydrogen leak detection and repair (LDAR) yearly. To ensure the enforcement of these obligations, the HDGMP grants regulatory authorities the ability to penalize operators who do not comply with requirements to minimize hydrogen leakage. According to §78(4) regulatory authorities are granted the power to impose (or propose to a competent court) penalties of up to 10% of the annual turnover of the transmission system operator or hydrogen network operator. Complementing this, §59 of Regulation 2024/1789 provides for the establishment of the European Network of Network Operators for Hydrogen (ENNOH). One of the tasks of this new body will be the development of best practices for the detection, monitoring and reduction of hydrogen leaks.<sup>17</sup>

## 4.3.2 Regulating hydrogen production: the Federal Immission Control Act and the Industrial Emissions Directive

In Germany, the Federal Immission Control Act (BImSchG) aims to limit emissions from industrial plants but does not adequately control direct hydrogen emissions. Its implementing regulation requires that harmful environmental impacts and other dangers are avoided and related precautions are taken (BImSchG, Section 5, Paragraph 1, 4). Crucially, however, no threshold value for the emission of hydrogen from electrolysers exists. This means that emissions through leakage, venting and purging are not effectively regulated in Germany. It is also important to note that existing safety regulations, namely Germany's Technical Rules for Hazardous Substances (TRGS) on hazardous explosive mixtures (in particular TRGS 720 – 723), also do not effectively regulate hydrogen emissions as they treat hydrogen exclusively as an explosive and hence safety-relevant substance, but not as an indirect GHG. For example, the blowing out of hydrogen remains a permissible practice; measures are only taken to prevent the accumulation of explosive gas concentrations.

<sup>17</sup> In a position paper on HDGMP, ENTSOG criticizes the creation of the ENNOH and argues that it could lead to a fragmentation of the energy system and a disintegration of gas and hydrogen modelling and planning activities (ENTSOG, 2022).

More broadly, smaller leaks that may not be safety-relevant but can have aggregate significant climate effects are not addressed.

At the EU-level, the Industrial Emissions Directive (2010/75/EU) addresses emissions generated during industrial production. Its effect on limiting hydrogen emissions during the stage of production is limited for two reasons, however. Firstly, it only covers larger production units with a capacity of at least 50 tonnes of hydrogen production per day. Secondly, hydrogen is not listed as a pollutant in Annex II but only falls under general emissions, Obligations for general emissions are laid down in §12 on applications for permits, which requires that the application for a permit includes a description of the sources of emissions from the installation, the proposed technology and other techniques for preventing or, where this is possible, reducing emissions from the installation and measures planned to monitor emissions into the environment. For enforcement, §23 requires a system of environmental inspections to examine the emissions of the respective installation (EP & Council, 2011). It is important to note that countries may implement regulations that are more ambitious than EU-level requirements and Germany's Federal Immission Control Act already allows for more stringent controls of hydrogen emissions at the national level. Nevertheless, the Industrial Emissions Directive is crucial for ensuring a harmonized European approach.

#### 4.3.3 Regulating Methane Emissions: the EU's Methane Regulation

In the case of blue hydrogen that is produced within the EU, the EU Methane Regulation (2024/1787) applies indirectly as it contains key provisions for the measurement, quantification and reduction of upstream emissions from methane leakages that contribute to the global warming footprint of blue hydrogen.<sup>18</sup> However, with respect to imports from outside of the EU, the Methane Regulation only applies to coal, gas and oil and therefore does not include the upstream methane emissions of imported, fossil-based hydrogen or its derivatives.

Within the EU, §12 of the Methane Regulation requires operators of relevant installations to submit a report on near-source methane emissions estimated by August 2025. For this, they must use at least generic emission factors for all sources including the information specified in §12(4). In addition, operators are required to take all appropriate measures to prevent and minimize methane emissions in their operations (§13) and to submit a LDAR programme to the competent authorities by May 2025 for existing installations and within six months of commissioning new installations (§14). In addition, §15 provides for restrictions on venting and purging, with venting and flaring to be generally prohibited except in emergencies (EP & Council, 2024d).

With respect to imports, Articles 27 - 29 lay out the gradually increasing requirements for importers of crude oil, natural gas or coal produced outside the EU. By May 2025, importers must provide a list of information, including the country of origin, to the competent authorities (§27); by January 2027 importers must demonstrate that import contracts concluded or renewed after 4 August 2024 cover only imports subject to monitoring, reporting and verification measures that are equivalent to those set out in this Regulation (§28). Moreover, by August 2027, the Commission shall set out a methodology for calculating, at the level of the producer, the methane intensity of the production of crude oil, natural gas and coal placed on the Union market in a delegated act (§29(4)). Based on this methodology, by August 2028, methane intensities of imported products must be reported (§29(1) and by August 2030, these intensities must be below the maximum methane intensity threshold which will be set out in a further delegated act (§29(6)) (EP & Council, 2024d). However, as these provisions only apply to the import of oil, gas and coal, upstream emissions related to the import of fossil-based hydrogen are not covered by the Methane Regulation.

<sup>18</sup> Neither Germany nor the EU is planning for significant blue hydrogen production within Europe. However, Norway, for example, which plans to produce and export blue hydrogen in large quantities, is also affected by the regulations as a member of the European Economic Area (EEA).

## 5 Recommendations for Policymakers in Europe and Germany

Despite some tentative steps towards regulating hydrogen emissions, direct hydrogen emissions remain insufficiently addressed in the existing regulatory framework. Further action at various levels is required to ensure the adequate control of emissions of direct and indirect GHGs in a future hydrogen economy. As the calculations in Section 3 demonstrate, the range of possible hydrogen emissions remains large, varying between 0.7 Mt to 10.8 Mt of CO<sub>2</sub>e (see Table 1). This corresponds to 1.1% and 17.1% of equivalent residual emissions in the government's net-zero scenarios and 0.1% and close to 2% of GHG emissions in Germany in 2023. In other words, controlling hydrogen emissions plays a significant role in climate mitigation efforts. Moreover, the results show that emissions from production account for the largest share of the total emissions, ranging from 20.4% to 78.9%,<sup>19</sup> and are therefore of particular importance.

Additionally, imports of blue hydrogen could also generate very sizable emissions. Assuming a scenario where one third of imported hydrogen is produced from natural gas with CCS and meets but not does not exceed the required GHG savings for low-carbon hydrogen in the EU, this would generate direct and indirect GHG emissions equivalent to 33% of residual emissions in a high-demand scenario or 3% of GHG emissions in 2023.

These results not only show that the potential impact of Germany's hydrogen plans is substantial, they also indicate a number of entry-points for mitigating these impacts. The following chapter outlines a set of specific recommendations for German policymakers to take action to control direct and indirect GHG emissions from the hydrogen sector.

### 5.1 National Level: Act at home

#### 5.1.1 Make every effort to meet Germany's hydrogen demand with green hydrogen by 2045 and prioritize direct electrification

As indicated, the utilization of imported blue hydrogen to meet part of Germany's hydrogen demand significantly increases total GHG emissions from the sector, albeit mainly in the country of hydrogen production. Significantly higher GHG emissions in the Green and Blue Scenarios (equivalent to 4.2% to 63.7% share of residual emissions in the German netzero scenario) compared to the 'only green' scenarios (equivalent to 1.1% to 17.1% share of residual emissions) show that Germany should make every effort to enable sufficient quantities of green hydrogen to meet its hydrogen demand by 2045. If imported blue hydrogen meets the EU's standard for low-carbon hydrogen, estimated GHG emissions from hydrogen are equivalent to 37.4% of residual emissions, still more than double those in an Only Green scenario with 'maximum' levels of hydrogen emissions (according to the assumptions in this report).

Notably, meeting hydrogen demand with green hydrogen does not only mean promoting sufficient green hydrogen production and imports. It also means taking measures to reduce overall hydrogen demand wherever possible and prioritizing direct electrification. In other words, hydrogen should mainly be used in the industrial sector (production of steel and chemicals) as well as for the production of synthetic fuels for the aviation and maritime shipping sector, for which direct electrification is not feasible.

#### 5.1.2 Swiftly transpose Directive 2024/1788 of the HDGMP into national law

Member states are obliged to transpose Directive 2024/1788 of the HDGMP (4.3.1) into national law by mid-2026 (EP & Council, 2024a). National legislators should address the implementation in a timely manner and ideally bring about implementation before the dead-line. At the same time, contact should be sought with hydrogen operators as soon as possible so that they can, in their own interest and depending on their technical capabilities, already take first measures for the detection and repair of hydrogen leakage before the directive is implemented. Such measures include the tightening of valves and seals, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Based on considering min. and max. emission rates for Scenario G1, which assumes all-green hydrogen production.

use of laminated gaskets and welded joints as well as the reduction of operating pressure and/or the minimisation of points of pressurisation and depressurisation (EDF, 2023). The significantly higher energy density of hydrogen may prove to be productive here, as it entails that limiting leakage has more significant economic advantages than in the case of natural gas (Arrigoni & Bravo Diaz, 2022).

## 5.1.3 Set maximum emission rates for hydrogen from electrolysers in the Federal Immission Control Act

As pointed out in this report, hydrogen emissions at the stage of production account for the largest share of hydrogen emissions in the presented scenarios. Moreover, research suggests that hydrogen emissions at the point of production can be reduced at significantly lower cost than at other stages of the hydrogen value chain. Notably, this includes operational measures that minimize 'intentional' leakage through purging and venting as opposed to 'unintentional' leakage during transport or storage. By recombining the hydrogen that was purged during the purification phases and vented during operation back to water, a large share of hydrogen emissions during production can be avoided. As electrolyser installations gain in size, the cost-effectiveness of these and other measures is likely to increase further (Frazer-Nash Consultancy, 2022).

However, it is precisely this part of the process chain that remains largely unaddressed. The HDGMP - the only regulatory package that explicitly addresses hydrogen emissions – only regulates leakage in the 'hydrogen network, storage and terminal operators', whose obligations relate to 'all relevant components under the operator responsibility' (EP & Council, 2024a, §50). This is consistent with its focus on transport and storage infrastructure for hydrogen and other gases.

As described in 4.3.2, in Germany, the operation of electrolysers is currently regulated by the Industrial Emissions Directive (2010/75/EU) and the Federal Immission Control Act, both of which do not recognize hydrogen as an indirect GHG. This regulatory gap should swiftly be closed by including specific provisions for the minimization of hydrogen emissions in electrolysers, including maximum hydrogen emissions per unit of hydrogen production. To do so at the national level, no further legislative action is required as §7(2) of the Federal Immission Control Act already empowers the federal government to set out a) technical requirements as well as b) maximum emission rates that installations must meet. An important point of reference is the guidance for hydrogen production by electrolysis of water, which was recently published by the UK government and includes specific provisions for the minimization of hydrogen emissions (Environment Agency, 2024).

## 5.1.4 Support the systematic monitoring of hydrogen emissions and the further development of hydrogen leak detection technology

Another important step towards controlling hydrogen emissions should be the systematic collection of data on hydrogen emissions throughout the hydrogen value chain, including hydrogen production. The EC has recognized this with the establishment of the obligations of hydrogen network operators to collect leakage data and the task of ENNNOH to compile best practices. In recognition of hydrogen as an indirect GHG, the European Environment Agency and the German Environmental Protection Agency should also receive the mandate to ensure comprehensive monitoring of hydrogen emissions. This should build on but should not be limited to the work of network operators, to ensure that data is also collected and reported at the point of hydrogen production.

To do so effectively, additional investments in technology for leak detection are needed. Existing technologies are designed for large safety-relevant leaks and are inadequate for small climate-relevant leaks (EDF, 2023). First calls for funding to develop adequate technologies have recently been published in the EU and a call for research into actual hydrogen emission rates along the value chain was launched (Horizon Europe, 2022; 2023). However, as confirmed by researchers in the field, there is still important scope for further technology and knowledge development. Given Germany's central role in promoting the hydrogen sector, this warrants additional national level research funding. Technology could be tested in pilot networks like H2-Infra<sup>20</sup> or H2-Direkt<sup>21</sup> as well as the networks of AirLiquide and Linde in Germany.

## 5.1.5 Further advance research to quantify ammonia emissions and their impact on climate

Ammonia  $(NH_3)$  is a widely-used derivative of hydrogen whose climate impacts are very uncertain. There is the potential for ammonia emissions to occur during its production, transport, storage, and use, however there is very little data on the magnitude of these emissions. Moreover, the net climate impact ammonia once released into the atmosphere

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> https://www.dbi-gruppe.de/leistungen-projekte/leuchtturmprojekte/h2infra/ <sup>21</sup> https://www.esb.de/h2direkt
is highly uncertain: in the short-term in forms reflective aerosols which have a net cooling effect, but over longer timescales it gets oxidized to nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O), a powerful greenhouse gas. Since use of ammonia will likely increase in a future hydrogen economy, it is crucial to close this knowledge gap by advancing research to quantify ammonia emissions and their climate impact.

#### 5.2 European Level: Lead in Europe

## 5.2.1 Include hydrogen emissions in the methodology for low-carbon emission savings and update DR 2023/1185 and the EU taxonomy

Another key entry-point for addressing hydrogen emissions is the low-carbon emission savings methodology. For this, the draft methodology, published on September 27, 2024, should be amended so that hydrogen emissions are covered alongside  $CO_2$  and methane. Since production accounts for the largest share of emissions, particular attention should be devoted to this part of the value chain. Initially, emission rates can be included on the basis of technology-specific emission factors, but as technology and data improve, these should be replaced by actually measured and verified leakage rates (see also Agora Energiewende & Agora Industrie, 2024). The same applies to upstream methane leakage emissions of low-carbon hydrogen. Thanks to recent regulatory and technology developments, including the adoption of the EU Methane Regulation and the availability of new satellite data, a significant increase of available data can be expected (see Section 4.3.3).

In order to ensure regulatory coherence, corresponding provisions should also be made in the RFNBO methodology (DR 2023/1185) and in the EU taxonomy for activities that contribute to climate change mitigation.

#### 5.2.2 Increase the GHG emissions savings threshold for low-carbon as well as renewable hydrogen over time

In addition, emissions from blue hydrogen can be reduced over time by increasing the required GHG emissions savings threshold over time. For the moment, the GHG saving threshold of 70% (3.38kg of CO<sub>2</sub>e per kg of hydrogen) for low-carbon and renewable hydrogen in the various EU regulations (i.e., HDGMP, RED and the Taxonomy Regulation) is fixed, though provisions for reviewing and amending threshold values and methodologies are in place. To meet the 2045 and 2050 net-zero targets in Germany and the EU, it will be crucial to continuously reduce remaining emissions in the hydrogen sector. To achieve this and to incentivize the needed investments in technological innovation, the GHG savings rate required by the various EU regulations should be increased over time. This recommendation aligns with a report by Agora Energiewende which proposes a dynamic decrease of the maximum greenhouse gas threshold for low-carbon fuels to 3kg by 2030, 2kg by 2040 and 1kg by 2050 (Agora Energiewende & Agora Industrie, 2024). Germany can act as a frontrunner in this regard by implementing national legislation that anticipates such a ratcheting-up mechanism at the EU level.

#### 5.2.3 Regulate the upstream methane emissions of imported fossil-based hydrogen and its derivatives in the methane regulation

Currently, the EU Methane Regulation (2024/1787) applies only to the import of gas, oil and coal but not that of hydrogen (see Section 4.3.3). Adding hydrogen and its derivatives (e.g., ammonia and methanol) to the list of regulated goods would help minimize methane emissions for all fossil-based hydrogen and hydrogen derivatives entering the EU, whether in compliance with the standard for low-carbon hydrogen or not. The planned review of the Methane Regulation in 2028 offers a suitable opportunity for implementing this amendment.

#### 5.2.4 Regulate hydrogen emissions during production in the Industrial Emissions Directive

Apart from amending the Federal Immission Control Act to minimize hydrogen emissions from electrolysers (see Section 5.1.4), German policymakers should also work towards implementing equivalent provisions at the EU level in the Industrial Emissions Directive. This is particularly important as Germany is expected to import parts of its green hydrogen from European countries. As long as no coherent regulatory EU framework for the minimization of hydrogen emissions from electrolysers exists, Germany risks 'importing' the emissions from other countries.

# 5.2.5 Ratchet-up the obligations of hydrogen infrastructure operators in the HDGMP by defining maximum emission rates

The existing obligations for hydrogen infrastructure operators in the HDGMP should be further specified as additional data on hydrogen emission becomes available. This should include an obligation to employ best available techniques (BAT) for hydrogen leakage control, provisions for regular inspections, specific time intervals for LDAR surveys, and, crucially, the definition of maximum leakage rates. For the latter, Article 9 of the HDGMP already provides the mandate (see Section 4.3.1), while the Methane Regulation 2024/1787 can provide an important point of reference (see Section 3.3.3) (EP & Council, 2024d).

#### 5.3 Global Level: Engage internationally

#### 5.3.1 Increase international awareness of hydrogen as an indirect GHG and update its GWP100 in the next IPCC report to reflect the latest science

To create a regulatory framework for the monitoring and control of hydrogen emissions, it must be recognized as an indirect GHG. At the international level, it is crucial for the IPCC to review and update hydrogen's GWP100 (last reported as 5.8 in AR4 and AR5) to reflect the latest science (Sand et al., 2023, Warwick et al., 2023; Hauglustaine et al., 2022) when it publishes its 7th Assessment Report (AR7). This will create a clear reference point that researchers and policy makers can draw on to quantify the climate impact of hydrogen in their future research and development of political methodologies and regulations, including the EU's methodologies for calculating GHG savings from hydrogen.

Moreover, a targeted communication effort should be launched to raise awareness of hydrogen's role as an indirect GHG without discrediting its important contribution to decarbonizing hard-to-abate sectors. A particular focus should be on highlighting the importance of reducing hydrogen emissions at the point of production. The institutions described in 5.2.5 for the monitoring of hydrogen emissions should play an important role in this effort.

## 5.3.2 Incorporate best-in-class provisions on transparency and CCS efficiencies when engaging with partners for the import of blue hydrogen

The basis for cooperating with partners for securing imports of blue hydrogen should be the adherence to stringent transparency criteria to enable the systematic monitoring and verification of direct and indirect GHG emissions, including CO2, methane and hydrogen emissions, throughout the hydrogen sector in the respective country. In the absence of strict monitoring of GHG emissions from the sector, there is a significant risk that the reduction of GHG emissions in Germany will go hand in hand with an increase in GHG emissions in partner countries. Depending on the specific hydrogen use and the amounts of hydrogen required for the avoidance of a unit of CO<sub>2</sub> equivalents, there is even a risk of largely displacing rather than significantly reducing total GHG emissions. Both methane emissions in the natural gas value chain and precise control of CCS efficiency are crucial. If the current EU standard value (9.7 g CO2e per MJ) is assumed for upstream emissions, CCS efficiency must be close to 90% in order to fulfil the current threshold for low-carbon hydrogen (Agora Energiewende & Agora Industrie, 2024). To avoid the displacement of GHG emissions to hydrogen-producing countries, the import of blue hydrogen should be conditional not only on the compliance with the EU's threshold for GHG savings as specified in the HDGMP for low-carbon hydrogen. The GHG savings should also be subject to independent monitoring and verification. For this, international certification schemes should also incorporate hydrogen emissions (see the following recommendation).

## 5.3.3 Consider indirect impacts of hydrogen emissions on GHG emissions in relevant standards and certification schemes

Currently, there is no standard or certification system for climate-friendly hydrogen whose methodology includes hydrogen emissions. This should be changed to account for the indirect impact of hydrogen on GHG emissions. A starting point should be the methodology of the International Partnership for Hydrogen and Fuel Cells in the Economy (IPHE) and the first international standard under development at the International Organisation for Standardisation (IOS) for calculating the GHG emissions of hydrogen, which is based on the IPHE methodology. This would represent an important step towards widespread consideration of hydrogen emissions across relevant schemes, as the IPHE methodology is already used by relevant organisations like the International Energy Agency (IEA) (IEA, 2023b) and forms the basis for the Global Green Hydrogen Standard sponsored by the Green Hydrogen Organisation (GH2) (Heinemann et al., 2023b). These standards and certifications will be crucial for controlling emissions from imported hydrogen.

RIFS Study October 2024

# 6 Appendix

#### TABLE A1. APPENDIX - SUMMARY OF CALCULATIONS.

Scenario Code	Scenario Description	Emission rates	Total emissions (Mt CO2e) [GWP100]	Total emissions (Mt CO2e) [GWP20]	H2 emissions (Mt CO2e) [GWP100]	CH4 emissions (Mt CO2e) [GWP100]	CO2 emissions (Mt CO2e) [GWP100]	CH4 and CO2 emissions (Mt CO2e) [GWP100]	Equivalent % of residual emissions
G1	High Demand, Only Green H <sub>2</sub> Imports, Pipeline & Ship	Min	1.04	3.36	1.04	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.66%
		Max	10.80	34.72	10.80	0.00	0.00	0.00	17.14%
G1a	High Demand, Only Green H <sub>2</sub> Imports, Only Pipeline	Min	1.07	3.43	1.07	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.69%
		Max	10.98	35.31	10.98	0.00	0.00	0.00	17.43%
G1b	High Demand, Only Green H <sub>2</sub> Imports,	Min	1.00	3.22	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.59%
	Only Ship	Мах	10.41	33.46	10.41	0.00	0.00	0.00	16.52%
G2	Low Demand, Only Green H₂ Imports, Pipeline & Ship	Min	0.71	2.29	0.71	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.13%
		Max	5.84	18.78	5.84	0.00	0.00	0.00	9.27%
G2a	Low Demand, Only Green H <sub>2</sub> Imports, Only Pipeline	Min	0.72	2.31	0.72	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.14%
		Max	5.92	19.02	5.92	0.00	0.00	0.00	9.39%
0.01	Low, Demand, Only Green H <sub>2</sub> Imports,	Min	0.69	2.23	0.69	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.10%
G2b	Only Ship	Max	5.68	18.25	5.68	0.00	0.00	0.00	9.01%
	High Demand, Green & Blue H₂ Imports, Pipeline & Ship	Min	5.74	9.38	1.04	0.75	3.94	4.69	9.11%
GB1		Max	40.15	87.46	9.33	15.06	15.75	30.82	63.73%
		Max-EU	23.57	-	9.33	-	-	14.24	37.41%
GB2	Low Demand, Green & Blue H₂ Imports, Pipeline & Ship	Min	2.67	4.80	0.71	0.31	1.64	1.96	4.24%
		Max	18.09	40.79	5.23	6.29	6.57	12.86	28.71%
		Max-EU	11.17	-	5.23	-	-	5.94	17.73%
B1	High Demand, Only Blue H₂ Imports, Pipeline & Ship	Min	15.15	21.47	1.04	2.26	11.84	14.11	24.05%
		Мах	99.06	193.32	6.39	45.30	47.37	92.67	157.24%
		Max-EU	49.20	-	6.39	-	-	42.81	78.10%
В2	Low Demand, Only Blue H₂ Imports, Pipeline & Ship	Min	6.58	9.83	0.71	0.94	4.93	5.87	10.45%
		Мах	42.58	84.80	4.01	18.86	19.72	38.58	67.59%
		Max-EU	21.83	-	4.01	-	-	17.82	34.65%

# TABLE A2. APPENDIX - TECHNICAL PARAMETERS AND ASSUMPTIONS FOR SCENARIOS.

Parameter	Unit	2045	Source						
International Transport: Pipeline									
Average distance for European imports	km	1200	Own estimate based on BMWK (2024c)						
Average distance of North African imports	km	3300	Own estimate based on BMWK (2024d)						
Domestic Transport / Distribution									
Total Length	km	350	Own estimate based on Wietschel (2023)						
Storage									
Total storage capacity	TWh	80	Senßfuß et al. (2021)						
Salt caverns	TWh	40	Guidehouse (2024)						
Other	TWh	40	Guidehouse (2024)						

## TABLE A3. APPENDIX - SUMMARY OF SCENARIOS AND PARAMETERS FOR CALCULATIONS.

	arios Domestic Production (TWh)*	Import (TWh)**							
Scenarios		Share Greei Imports	n vs. Blue	Pipeline		Ohin	Total Demand (TWh)*		
		Green	Blue	Europe North Africa		Ship			
Scenario G: Only Green Hydrogen Imports									
High Demand, Pipeline & Ship (G1)	188	418	0	143	143	132	606		
Only Pipeline (G1a)	188	418	0	209	209	0	606		
Only Ship (G1b)	188	418	0	0	0	418	606		
Low Demand, Pipeline & Ship (G2)	131	174	0	60	60	54	305		
Only Pipeline (G2a)	131	174	0	87	87	0	305		
Only Ship (G2b)	131	174	0	0	0	174	305		
Scenario GB: Green & Blue Hydrogen Imports									
High Demand, Pipeline & Ship (GB1)	188	279	139***	143	143	132	606		
Low Demand, Pipeline & Ship (GB2)	131	116	58	60	60	54	305		
Scenario B: Only Blue Hydrogen Imports									
High Demand, Pipeline & Ship (B1)	188	0	418	143	143	132	606		
Low Demand, Pipeline & Ship (B2)	131	0	174	60	60	54	305		

\* Source: 'Langfristszenarien' by BMWK, <u>https://langfristszenarien.de/enertile-explorer-de/</u>. \*\* Share of pipeline vs. ship-based imports (69% to 31%, respectively) adjusted from ratio in BMWK's import strategy, see BMWK (2024c). \*\*\* Own assumption (one third of total imports).

# Literature

**AFRY & RINA.** (2023). Hydrogen pipeline form Gulf to Europe: use case and feasibility study. Joint Discussion Paper, June 2023. https://afry.com/sites/default/files/2023-06/3355\_afry\_and\_rina\_joint\_discussion\_paper\_hydrogen\_pipe-line\_from\_the\_gulf\_to\_europe\_use\_case\_and\_feasibility\_considerations\_june\_2023.pdf.

**Agora Energiewende & Agora Industrie.** (2024). Low-carbon hydrogen in the EU. Towards a robust definition in view of costs, trade and climate protection. https://www.agoraenergiewende.org/fileadmin/Projekte/2024/2024-11\_EU\_Low\_Carbon\_H2/A-EW\_334\_Low\_Carbon\_H2\_WEB.pdf.

**Agora Industrie & TU Hamburg.** (2023). Wasserstoff-Importoptionen für Deutschland. Analyse mit einer Vertiefung zu Synthetischem Erdgas (SNG) bei nahezu geschlossenem Kohlenstoffkreislauf.

Al-Shafi, M., Massarweh, O., Abushaikha, A. S., & Bicer, Y. (2023). A review on underground gas storage systems: Natural gas, hydrogen and carbon sequestration. Energy Reports, 9, 6251–6266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egyr.2023.05.236.

**Arrigoni, A. & Bravo Diaz, L.** (2022). JRC Technical Report: Hydrogen emissions from a hydrogen economy and their potential global warming impact. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, 2022, ISBN 978-92-76-55848-4, doi:10.2760/065589, JRC130362.

**Barry, M.** (2023, May 16). Learn about Reducing methane emissions—OGCI. https://www.ogci.com/methane-emissions/methane-intensity-target.

**Benabdelaziz, K., Djoupo, J.J., Kouskou, T., Lamrani, B. & Lebrouhi, B.E.** (2022). Global hydrogen development - A technological and geopolitical overview. https://www.sci-encedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360319921047765.

**Bertagni, M. B. et al.** (2023). Minimizing the impacts of the ammonia economy on the nitrogen cycle and climate. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 120(46), e2311728120. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2311728120.

**BMWK.** (2021). Pressemitteilung vom 23.12.2021: 900 Millionen Euro für Wasserstoffprojekt H2Global – Habeck 'Starten mit dem Hochlauf der Wasserstoffwirtschaft'. https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Pressemitteilungen/2021/12/20211223-900-millionen-euro-fuer-wasserstoffprojekt-h2global.html.

**BMWK.** (2022). 'Bundesminister Robert Habeck: Wasserstoff-Zusammenarbeit mit den VAE ausbauen'. https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Pressemitteilun-gen/2022/03/20220321-bundesminister-robert-habeck-wasserstoff-zusammenarbeit-mit-den-vereinigten-arabischen-emiraten-ausbauen.html.

**BMWK.** (2023a). 'Federal Cabinet adopts comprehensive 2023 Climate Action Programme'. <u>https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/EN/Pressemitteilungen/2023/10/20231004-fed-</u> eral-cabinet-adopts-comprehensive-2023-climate-action-programme.html

**BMWK.** (2023b). National Hydrogen Strategy Update. https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/EN/Publikationen/Energie/national-hydrogen-strategy-update.pdf?blob=publication-File&v=2.

**BMWK.** (2023c). 'Norwegen und Deutschland verstärken Energiekooperation auf dem Weg zur Klimaneutralität'. https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Pressemitteilun-gen/2023/01/20230105-norwegen-und-deutschland-verstaerken-energiekooperation-auf-dem-weg-zur-klimaneutralitaet.html.

**BMWK.** (2024a). Gesetz zur Wasserstoff-Netzentwicklungsplanung und zur Kernnetz Finanzierung im Deutschen Bundestag beschlossen. https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Pressemitteilungen/2024/04/20240412-gesetz-zur-wasserstoff-netzentwicklungsplanung.html.

**BMWK.** (2024b). 'Antrag für Wasserstoff-Kernnetz von Fernleitungsnetzbetreibern eingereicht' Press Release, 23 July 2024. https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Pressemitteilungen/2024/07/20240723-wasserstoff-kernnetz.html.

**BMWK.** (2024c). Importstrategie für Wasserstoff und Wasserstoffderivate. https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Publikationen/Energie/importstrategie-wasserstoff.pdf?\_\_blob=publicationFile&v=14.

**BMWK.** (2024d). 'Germany, Austria and Italy sign a Joint Declaration of Intent for the Development of the SoutH2 Corridor". https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/EN/Pressemitteilungen/2024/05/20240530-germany-austria-and-italy-sign-a-joint-declaration-of-intentfor-the-development-of-the-south2-corridor.html.

**BMWK.** (2024e). Pressemitteilung vom 15.07.2024: Offizieller Startschuss für die Umsetzung von 23 IPCEI-Wasserstoff-Projekten in Deutschland. https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Pressemitteilungen/2024/07/20240715-ipcei-wasserstoff-projekte.html.

**BMWK.** (2024f). Neue Langfristszenarien für die Energiewende. Ministry for Economic Affairs and Climate Action. https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Schlaglichter-der-Wirtschaftspolitik/2024/04/05-neue-langfristszenarien-fuer-die-energiewende.html.

**Bundes-Immissionsschutzgesetz** in der Fassung der Bekanntmachung vom 17. Mai 2013 (BGBI. I S. 1274; 2021 I S. 123), das zuletzt durch Artikel 1 des Gesetzes vom 3. Juli 2024 (BGBI. 2024 I Nr. 225) geändert worden ist. https://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/bim-schg/BJNR007210974.html.

**Central European Hydrogen Corridor (CEHC).** (2024, October 8). Central European Hydrogen Corridor. https://www.cehc.eu/.

**Clean Hydrogen Partnership.** (2024). European Partnership for Hydrogen Technologies. https://www.clean-hydrogen.europa.eu/index\_en.

**Collodi, G., Azzaro, G., Ferrari, N., & Santos, S.** (2017). Techno-economic Evaluation of Deploying CCS in SMR Based Merchant H2 Production with NG as Feedstock and Fuel. Energy Procedia, 114, 2690–2712. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2017.03.1533.

**Cooper, J., Dubey, L., Bakkaloglu, S., & Hawkes, A.** (2022). Hydrogen emissions from the hydrogen value chain-emissions profile and impact to global warming. The Science of the Total Environment, 830, 154624. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.154624.

**Derwent, R.G., Collins, W.J., Johnson, C.E. and Stevenson, D.S.** (2001) 'Transient behaviour of tropospheric ozone precursors in a global 3-D CTM and their indirect greenhouse effects', Climatic Change, Vol. 49, pp.463–487.

**EC.** (2020). A hydrogen strategy for a climate-neutral Europe (COM2020/301), Brussels, 8.7.2020. European Commission. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52020DC0301.

**EC.** (2021). Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2021/2139 of 4 June 2021 supplementing Regulation (EU) 2020/852 of the European Parliament and of the Council by establishing the technical screening criteria for determining the conditions under which an economic activity qualifies as contributing substantially to climate change mitigation or climate change adaptation and for determining whether that economic activity causes no significant harm to any of the other environmental objectives. European Commission. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32021R2139.

**EC.** (2022). Implementing Regulation 2022/996 on rules to verify sustainability and greenhouse gas emissions saving criteria and low indirect land- use change-risk criteria. European Commission. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/eli/reg\_impl/2022/996/oj.

**EC.** (2023a). Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2023/1184 of 10 February 2023 supplementing Directive (EU) 2018/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council by establishing a Union methodology setting out detailed rules for the production of renewable liquid and gaseous transport fuels of non-biological origin. European Commission. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32023R1184.

**EC.** (2023b). Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2023/1185 of 10 February 2023 supplementing Directive (EU) 2018/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council by establishing a minimum threshold for greenhouse gas emissions savings of recycled carbon fuels and by specifying a methodology for assessing greenhouse gas emissions savings from renewable liquid and gaseous transport fuels of non-biological origin and from recycled carbon fuels. European Commission. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32023R1185.

**EC.** (2024a). Voluntary schemes. Voluntary schemes set standards for the production of sustainable fuels and gases. European Commission. <u>https://energy.ec.europa.eu/top-ics/renewable-energy/bioenergy/voluntary-schemes\_en</u>.

**EC**. (2024b). Guidance on the targets for the consumption of renewable fuels of non-biological origin in the industry and transport sectors laid down in Articles 22a, 22b and 25 of Directive (EU) 2018/2001 on the promotion of energy from renewable sources, as amended by Directive (EU) 2023/2413. C(2024) 5042 final.

**EDF.** (2023). Hydrogen Emissions Measurement Study. Environmental Defense Fund. https://www.edf.org/sites/default/files/documents/hydrogen-emissions-measurementstudy-2023.pdf.

ENTSOG. (2022). ENTSOG high-level position on hydrogen and decarbonised gas market package. https://www.entsog.eu/sites/default/files/2022-02/EN-TSOG%20High%20Level%20Position%20on%20Hydrogen%20and%20Decarbon-ised%20Gas%20Market%20Package.pdf.

**Environment Agency.** (2024). Hydrogen production by electrolysis of water: emerging techniques: Emerging techniques on how to prevent or minimise the environmental impacts of hydrogen production by electrolysis of water. UK Government. https://www.gov.uk/guid-ance/hydrogen-production-by-electrolysis-of-water-emerging-techniques.

**EP & Council.** (2011). Consolidated text: Directive 2010/75/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 November 2010 on industrial emissions (integrated pollution prevention and control). European Parliament & Council of the European Union. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:02010L0075-20110106.

**EP & Council.** (2018). Directive (EU) 2018/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 December 2018 on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources (recast). European Parliament & Council of the European Union. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32018L2001.

**EP & Council.** (2020). Regulation (EU) 2020/852 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 June 2020 on the establishment of a framework to facilitate sustainable investment, and amending Regulation (EU) 2019/2088. European Parliament & Council of the European Union. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32020R0852.

**EP & Council.** (2022). Regulation (EU) 2022/869 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 May 2022 on guidelines for trans-European energy infrastructure, amending Regulations (EC) No 715/2009, (EU) 2019/942 and (EU) 2019/943 and Directives 2009/73/EC and (EU) 2019/944, and repealing Regulation (EU) No 347/2013. European

Parliament & Council of the European Union. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-con-tent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32022R0869.

**EP & Council.** (2023a). Directive (EU) 2023/2413 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 October 2023 amending Directive (EU) 2018/2001, Regulation (EU) 2018/1999 and Directive 98/70/EC as regards the promotion of energy from renewable sources, and repealing Council Directive (EU) 2015/652. European Parliament & Council of the European Union. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=OJ:L\_202302413.

**EP & Council.** (2023b). Regulation (EU) 2023/956 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 10 May 2023 establishing a carbon border adjustment mechanism. European Parliament & Council of the European Union. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32023R0956.

**EP & Council.** (2024a) Consolidated text: Directive 2003/87/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 October 2003 establishing a system for greenhouse gas emission allowance trading within the Union and amending Council Directive 96/61/EC. European Parliament & Council of the European Union. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:02003L0087-20240301.

**EP & Council.** (2024b). Directive (EU) 2024/1788 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 June 2024 on common rules for the internal markets for renewable gas, natural gas and hydrogen, amending Directive (EU) 2023/1791 and repealing Directive 2009/73/EC (recast). European Parliament & Council of the European Union. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=OJ:L\_202401788.

**EP & Council.** (2024c). Regulation (EU) 2024/1789 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 June 2024 on the internal markets for renewable gas, natural gas and hydrogen, amending Regulations (EU) No 1227/2011, (EU) 2017/1938, (EU) 2019/942 and (EU) 2022/869 and Decision (EU) 2017/684 and repealing Regulation (EC) No 715/2009 (recast). European Parliament & Council of the European Union. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=OJ:L\_202401789.

**EP & Council.** (2024d). Regulation (EU) 2024/1787 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 June 2024 on the reduction of methane emissions in the energy sector and amending Regulation (EU) 2019/942. European Parliament & Council of the European Union. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=OJ:L\_202401787.

Esquivel-Elizondo, S., Hormaza Mejia, A., Sun, T., Shrestha, E., Hamburg, S. P., & Ocko, I. B. (2023). Wide range in estimates of hydrogen emissions from infrastructure. Frontiers in Energy Research, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenrg.2023.1207208.

**Euractiv.** (2023). EU-Wasserstoffregeln gehen in die Zielgerade: Entflechtung als letztes Hindernis. https://www.euractiv.de/section/energie/news/eu-wasserstoffregeln-gehen-in-die-zielgerade-entflechtung-als-letztes-hindernis/.

**Fan, Z. et al.** (2022). Hydrogen leakage: A potential risk for the hydrogen economy. https://www.energypolicy.columbia.edu/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/HydrogenLeakageRegulations\_CGEP\_Commentary\_063022.pdf

**Federal Government of Germany.** (2020). German government adopts hydrogen strategy. https://www.bundesregierung.de/breg-en/service/archive/wasserstoffstrategie-kabinett-1758982.

**FNB Gas e. V.** (2024a). Hydrogen core network, Update 22 July 2024. https://fnb gas.de/en/hydrogen-core-network/.

**FNB Gas e. V.** (2024b). Hydrogen network 2050: for a climate-neutral Germany. https://fnb-gas.de/wasserstoffnetz/h2-netz-2050/.

**Forster, P. et al.** (2007). Changes in Atmospheric Constituents and in Radiative Forcing. In: Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Solomon, S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M.Tignor and H.L. Miller (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.

**Forster, P. et al.** (2021). The Earth's Energy Budget, Climate Feedbacks, and Climate Sensitivity. In Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S.L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M.I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J.B.R. Matthews, T.K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu, and B. Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 923–1054, doi:10.1017/9781009157896.009.

**Frazer-Nash Consultancy.** (2022). Fugitive Hydrogen Emissions in a Future Hydrogen Economy. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/624ec79cd3bf7f600d4055d1/fugitive-hydrogen-emissions-future-hydrogen-economy.pdf.

**Gatzen, C., Biller, J. & Sonnen, L.** (2024). Regulatorische und technische Rahmenbedingungen für den Hochlauf und den Import von Wasserstoff. Frontier Economics Limited, Förderzeichen G 202401 (commissioned by DVGW), 30 April 2024.

**Gorski, J., Jutt, T., & Wu, K. T.** (2021). Carbon intensity of blue hydrogen production. https://www.pembina.org/reports/carbon-intensity-of-blue-hydrogen-revised.pdf

**Graichen, V., Heinemann, C., Jensterle, M., Mendelevitch, R. & Piria, R.** (2023). Öko-Institut. https://www.oeko.de/publikation/explaining-the-new-carbon-border-adjustmentmechanisum-cbam-implications-for-ptx-imports-to-the-eu/.

**Guidehouse.** (2024). Covering Germany's green hydrogen demand: transport options for enabling imports. Guidehouse. https://guidehouse.com/-/media/www/site/insights/energy/2022/transport-options-for-covering-germanys-green-hydrogen-demand.pdf

Hauglustaine, D., Paulot, F., Collins, W., Derwent, R., Sand, M., & Boucher, O. (2022). Climate benefit of a future hydrogen economy. *Communications Earth & Environment*, *3*(1), 295. https://www.nature.com/articles/s43247-022-00626-z

**Heinemann, C., Jensterle, M., Krieger, S., Lengning, S. & Piria; R.** (2023a). EU Requirements for Renewable Hydrogen and ist Derivates. Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ). https://www.ecologic.eu/sites/default/files/publication/2024/60022-EU-Requirements-for-green-hydrogen-and-PtX.pdf.

**Heinemann, C., Krieger, S. & Seebach, D.** (2021). Critical Review of the IPHE Working Paper 'Methodology for Determining the GHG emissions associated with the Production of hydrogen". Öko-Institute. https://www.oeko.de/publikation/critical-review-of-the-iphe-work-ing-paper-methodology-for-determining-the-ghg-emissions-associated-with-the-production-of-hydrogen/.

**Heinemann, C., Krieger, S. & Seebach, D.** (2023b). Introduction to the IPHE Methodology: Determining the greenhouse gas emissions associated with the production of hydrogen via electrolysis of water. International PtX Hub. https://ptx-hub.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/08/International-PtX-Hub\_202308\_IPHE-methodology-electrolysis.pdf.

**Heneka, M. & Mörs, F.** (2022). Ecological evaluation of hydrogen supply: sensitivity analysis on GHG emissions of hydrogen. DVGW, ebi, 17 May 2022. https://www.dvgw.de/medien/dvgw/forschung/berichte/g202148-presentation-ghg-emissions-hydrogen-2022-05.pdf.

**Hoffmann, B., Kamm, J. & Pause, F.** (2023). Wie man (k)einen einheitlichen Rechtsrahmen für erneuerbaren Wasserstoff schafft. Würzbürger Studien zum Umweltenergierecht Nr. 32 vom 19.11.2023. Stiftung Umweltrecht. https://stiftung-umweltenergierecht.de/wp-

content/uploads/2023/11/Stiftung\_Umweltenergierecht\_WueStudien\_32\_DA\_Wasser-stoff.pdf.

**Horizon Europe.** (2022). HORIZON-JTI-CLEANH2-2022-02-02: Hydrogen and H2NG leak detection for continuous monitoring and safe operation of HRS and future hydrogen/H2NG networks. https://www.horizon-europe.gouv.fr/hydrogen-and-h2ng-leak-detection-continuous-monitoring-and-safe-operation-hrs-and-future-29657.

**Horizon Europe.** (2023). HORIZON-JTI-CLEANH2-2023-05-03: Pre-Normative Research on the determination of hydrogen releases from the hydrogen value chain. https://www.horizon-europe.gouv.fr/pre-normative-research-determination-hydrogen-releases-hydrogen-value-chain-34813.

**Horizon Europe.** (2024). Calls for applications to support clean hydrogen research and development projects. https://eufundingportal.eu/call-for-applications-to-support-clean-hydrogen-research-and-development-projects/.

**Hormaza Mejia, A., Brouwer, J., & Mac Kinnon, M.** (2020). Hydrogen leaks at the same rate as natural gas in typical low-pressure gas infrastructure. International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, 45(15), 8810–8826. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2019.12.159.

**Hydrogen Europe.** (2024). Hydrogen Europe Position Paper: Low carbon hydrogen: key principles for a coherent methodology in the upcoming Delegated Act. https://hydrogeneu-rope.eu/wp-content/uploads/2024/06/240527-Low-carbon-DA-Hydrogen-Europe-final-paper-clean.pdf.

**IEA.** (2023). Global Hydrogen Review 2023. International Energy Agency. https://www.iea.org/reports/global-hydrogen-review-2023.

**IEA.** (2023b). Towards hydrogen definitions based on their emissions intensity. International Energy Agency. https://www.iea.org/reports/towards-hydrogen-definitions-based-on-their-emissions-intensity.

IPCC. (2021). Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S.L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M.I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J.B.R. Matthews, T.K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu, and B. Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA. 2391 pp. doi:10.1017/9781009157896.

Lin, J. C., Bares, R., Fasoli, B., Garcia, M., Crosman, E., & Lyman, S. (2021). Declining methane emissions and steady, high leakage rates observed over multiple years in a western US oil/gas production basin. Scientific Reports, 11(1), 22291. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-01721-5.

**Mendelevitch, R. & Heinemann, C.** (2024). Einordnung zur Treibhausgaswirkung von Wasserstoff - Bestehende Literatur und Beispielrechnung mit Zahlen des PB 2023 - ergänzter Foliensatz nach digitaler Präsentation; 23.01.2024, Öko-Institut e.V. Germany. https://www.oeko.de/publikation/einordnung-zur-treibhausgaswirkung-von-wasserstoff-bestehende-literatur-und-beispielrechnung-mit-zahlen-des-pb-2023/

**NHC.** (2024). Regionale H2-Cluster: Der Wasserstoffhochlauf braucht inländische Wertschöpfungsketten. National Hydrogen Council. Pressemitteilung vom 28.06.2024. https://www.wasserstoffrat.de/fileadmin/wasserstoffrat/media/Dokumente/2024/2024-06-21\_NWR-Stellungnahme\_Regionale\_H2-Cluster.pdf.

**Office of Fossil Energy and Carbon Management.** (2024, August 26). Petra Nova—W.A. Parish Project. Energy Gov. https://www.energy.gov/fecm/petra-nova-wa-parish-project

RIFS Study October 2024

46

Ocko, I. B., Hamburg, S. P., Jacob, D.J., Keith, D.W., Keohane, N.O., Oppenheimer, M., Roy-Mayhew, J.D., Schrag, D.P., Pacala, S.W. (2017). Unmask temporal trade-offs in climate policy debates. Science 356, 492–493.

Office of Fossil Energy and Carbon Management. (2024, August 26). Petra Nova—W.A. Parish Project. Energy Gov. https://www.energy.gov/fecm/petra-nova-wa-parish-project

**Quitzow, R., Nunez, A. & Marian, A.** (2024). Positioning Germany in an international hydrogen economy: A policy review. Energy Strategy Reviews 53, 101361. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2211467X24000683.

**Riemer, M., Wachsmuth, J., Pfluger, B. & Oberle, S.** (2022). Welche Treibhausgasemissionen verursacht die Wasserstoffproduktion? Umweltbundesamt, 30 November 2022. https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/479/dokumente/uba\_welche\_treibhausgasemissionen\_verursacht\_die\_wasserstoffproduktion.pdf

**Sand, M. et al.** (2023). A multi-model assessment of the Global Warming Potential of hydrogen. Communications Earth & Environment, 4(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43247-023-00857-8.

**Seebach, D.** (2023). Certification for Green Hydrogen and Power-to-x: An introduction. Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmbH. https://ptx-hub.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/International-PtX-Hub\_202305\_Certification-for-green-hydrogen-and-PtX.pdf.

**Senßfuß, F. et al.** (2021). Langfristszenarien für die Transformation des Energiesystems in Deutschland. Mai 2021, Fraunhofer ISI, Consentec GMbH.

**Terlouw, T., Rosa, L., Bauer, C., & McKenna, R.** (2024). Future hydrogen economies imply environmental trade-offs and a supply-demand mismatch. Nature Communications, 15(1), 7043. https://www.nature.com/articles/s41467-024-51251-7

**Verordnung** zur Neufassung der Siebenunddreißigsten Verordnung zur Durchführung des Bundes-Immissionsschutzgesetzes (Verordnung zur Anrechnung von strombasierten Kraftstoffen und mitverarbeiteten biogenen Ölen auf die Treibhausgasquote — 37. BImSchV). https://www.recht.bund.de/bgbl/1/2024/131/VO.html.

**Warwick, N. J. et al.** (2023). Atmospheric composition and climate impacts of a future hydrogen economy. Atmos. Chem. Phys. Discuss. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-2023-29

**Westphal, K., Dröge, S., & Geden, O.** (2020). The International Dimensions of Germany's Hydrogen Policy. SWP Comment 32/2020. Berlin: Stiftung Wissenschaft und Politik. https://www.swp-berlin.org/publications/products/comments/2020C32\_HydrogenPolicy.pdf

Westra, I.M., Scheeren, H.A., Stroo, F.T. et al. (2024). First detection of industrial hydrogen emissions using high precision mobile measurements in ambient air. Sci Rep 14, 24147 (2024). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-024-76373-2

**Wietschel, M.** (2023). No-Regret Wasserstoffbedarfe und nachhaltige Elektrolysekapazitäten in Deutschland, Europa und der Welt. Workshop Bellona, Fraunhofer ISI. 10.11.2023, Berlin.

Wietschel, M. et al. (2021): Metastudie Wasserstoff – Auswertung von Energiesystemstudien. Studie im Auftrag des Nationalen Wasserstoffrats. Karlsruhe, Freiburg, Cottbus: Fraunhofer ISI, Fraunhofer ISE, Fraunhofer IEG (Hrsg.). https://www.ise.fraunhofer.de/de/veroeffentlichungen/studien/metastudie-wasserstoff.html

# Authors

### Kathleen A. Mar

Kathleen A. Mar leads the research group "Climate and Sustainability in National and International Processes" at the Research Institute for Sustainability - Helmholtz Centre Potsdam (RIFS). Kathleen holds a Ph.D. in atmospheric chemistry from the University of California, Berkeley and worked at the United States Environmental Protection Agency prior to joining the RIFS. Her work focuses on engagement with and understanding of political forums that aim to drive climate action, including the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and the Climate and Clean Air Coalition (CCAC).

### Rainer Quitzow

Rainer Quitzow leads a research group on the Geopolitics of Energy and Industrial Transformation at the Research Institute for Sustainability, Helmholtz Centre Potsdam. His research focuses on sustainable innovation and industrial policy and geopolitics of transitions in energy and industry. In particular, he analyses geoeconomic competition in emerging climate-friendly industries and the role of foreign and industrial policy strategies in this context. Rainer Quitzow is also Professor of Sustainability and Innovation (Honorarprofessor) at the Technische Universität Berlin. Before his career as a researcher, Rainer Quitzow worked in the field of international development with a focus on governance and environmental and trade policy. At the World Bank in Washington, D.C., he conducted governance and policy impact analyses for development programmes in Latin America and Africa.

#### Finn Haberkost

Finn Haberkost is a student of political theory at the Goethe University Frankfurt am Main. He is currently an intern at the Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Climate Action and is writing his master's thesis on interministerial coordination in climate policy. Previously, Finn was a project assistant at the German Africa Foundation and an intern at the Federal Foreign Office. He also completed semesters abroad at University College London and Virginia Tech University. A common thread running through these stations is his interest in the complex reality of the energy transition and the conflicts of interest and coordination challenges associated with it.

### Mona C. Horn

Mona C. Horn is a student in the Climate, Earth, Water, Sustainability Master's program at the University of Potsdam. Her Master's thesis is on the meaning of net zero for methane emissions at the Research Institute for Sustainability - Helmholtz Centre Potsdam (RIFS) under the supervision of Kathleen A. Mar. She holds a Bachelor's degree in Geosciences from the University of Freiburg. For her Bachelor's thesis in a DFG project with the University of Kiel, she applied isotopic tracing to study recharge dynamics and the interaction between surface water and groundwater.

## Hannah Lentschig

Hannah Lentschig is a Research Fellow in European & Global Affairs at the Netherlands Institute of International Relations, Clingendael, in The Hague. Her research focuses on European and international energy and climate policy, with a specific interest in green energy diplomacy and the geopolitics of the energy transition. Prior to joining Clingendael, Hannah worked at the Research Institute for Sustainability - Helmholtz Centre Potsdam (RIFS), focusing on the role of hydrogen for transitions in energy and industry. She holds an Advanced MSc (with distinction) in International Relations & Diplomacy from Leiden University.

## Charlotte Unger

Charlotte Unger is a senior research associate at the Research Institute for Sustainability - Helmholtz Centre Potsdam (RIFS), where she forms part of the group "Climate Action in National and International Processes". Her research focuses on global climate governance, climate policy processes in Germany, the EU and the USA, and the integration of climate and air quality policies. She builds on more than ten years of experience in climate politics, gained also during previous work for the International Carbon Action Partnership (ICAP), the Environmental Action Germany (DUH) and the Technical University Berlin. Charlotte graduated in public and private environmental management and holds a PhD in political sciences from the Technical University Munich School of Governance.

### Andreas Goldthau

Andreas C. Goldthau is Director of the Willy Brandt School of Public Policy at the University of Erfurt where he holds the Franz Haniel Chair for Public Policy at the Faculty of Economics, Law and Social Sciences. Before joining the Brandt School he served as Research Group Lead on the Energy Transition in the Global South at the Research Institute for Sustainability – Helmholtz Center Potsdam (RIFS), as Professor in International Relations at Royal Holloway College, University of London and as Professor at Central European University's School of Public Policy in Budapest. Professor's Goldthau's academic interests lie in energy security, energy geoeconomics and the political economy of the clean transition.



The Research Institute for Sustainability (RIFS) conducts research with the aim of investigating, identifying, and advancing development pathways for transformation processes towards sustainability in Germany and abroad. The Institute was founded in 2009 as the Institute for Advanced Sustainability Studies (IASS) and has been affiliated with the Helmholtz Centre Potsdam - GFZ German Research Centre for Geosciences under its new name since 1 January 2023 and is thus part of the Helmholtz Association. Its research approach is transdisciplinary, transformative, and co-creative. RIFS cooperates with partners in science, political and administrative institutions, the business community, and civil society to develop solutions that enjoy broad support. Its central research topics include the energy transition, climate change and socio-technical transformations, as well as sustainable governance and participation. A strong network of national and international partners and a Fellow Programme support the work of the Institute.



#### **Contact:**

Kathleen A. Mar: kathleen.mar@rifs-potsdam.de Rainer Quitzow: rainer.quitzow@rifs-potsdam.de

#### Address:

Berliner Straße 130 14467 Potsdam T: +49 (0) 331–28822–340 media@rifs-potsdam.de www.rifs-potsdam.de

ViSdP: Prof. Dr Mark G. Lawrence, Scientific Director, Speaker

Editor: Harrison, Damian

DOI: 10.48481/rifs.2024.016





HELMHOLTZ SPITZENFORSCHUNG FÜR GROSSE HERAUSFORDERUNGEN